Division of Pharmacognosy
Faculty of Pharmacy
University of Helsinki

Extraction and Planar Chromatographic Separation Techniques in the Analysis of Natural Products

Teijo Yrjönen

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Pharmacy of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in Conference Room 513 at Viikki Infocentre (Viikinkaari 11), on November 12th, 2004, at 12 noon.

HELSINKI 2004

Supervisors: Prof. Heikki Vuorela, Ph.D.

Division of Pharmacognosy

Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki

Finland

Docent Pia Vuorela, Ph.D.

Viikki Drug Discovery Technology Center

Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki

Finland

Prof. Raimo Hiltunen, Ph.D. Division of Pharmacognosy

Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki

Finland

Reviewers: Docent Hannele Salomies, Ph.D.

Division of Pharmaceutical Chemistry

Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki

Finland

Docent, (Prof.) Heli Sirén, Ph.D. Laboratory of Analytical Chemistry

Department of Chemistry University of Helsinki

Finland

Opponent: Prof. Szabolcs Nyiredy, Ph.D.

Research Institute for Medicinal Plants

Budakalasz Hungary

© Teijo Yrjönen 2004 ISBN 952-10-2071-7 (paperback) ISSN 1239-9469 ISBN 952-10-2072-5 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/

Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2004

CONTENTS

1.	PREFACE			
2.	ABSTRACT			
3.	LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS			
4.				
5.	INT	RODUCTION	12	
6.	REV	TEW OF THE LITERATURE	14	
	6.1.	Extraction of plant material	14	
		6.1.1. Selection of extraction method	14	
		6.1.2. Selection of extraction solvent in solid-liquid extraction (SLE)	18	
		6.1.3. Medium pressure solid-liquid extraction (MPSLE)	20	
		6.1.4. Rotation planar extraction (RPE)	20	
	6.2.	Thin-layer chromatography (TLC)	21	
		6.2.1. Principles of TLC	21	
		6.2.2. Method development in TLC	24	
		6.2.3. Preparative TLC	25	
		6.2.4. TLC as a pilot method for RPC and MPLC	26	
	6.3.	Rotation planar chromatography (RPC)	27	
		6.3.1. Preparative RPC	28	
		6.3.2. Analytical RPC	30	
	6.4.	Medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC)	30	
	6.5.	Detection methods	31	
7.	AIM	IS OF THE STUDY	35	
8.	EXPERIMENTAL			
	8.1.	Materials	36	
		8.1.1. Standard compounds	36	
		8.1.2. Plant material	36	
		8.1.3. Instrumentation	38	
		8.1.4. TLC plates	38	
		8.1.5. Columns and sorbents	39	

	8.2.	Methods	39
		8.2.1. Extraction of plant material by RPE and MPSLE (I, II, III)	39
		8.2.2. Preparative purification of extracts by RPC and MPLC (III)	39
		8.2.3. Screening of indole derivatives by TLC and RPC (IV)	40
		8.2.4. Comparison of densitometer and video scanner in quantitative TLC (V)	40
		8.2.5. Assay for radical scavenging activity of phenolics by RP-TLC (VI)	40
9.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
	9.1.	Extraction of plant material by RPE and MPSLE (I, II, III)	42
	9.2.	Purification of 2-pyrone derivatives from Gerbera hybrida (III)	45
	9.3.	Screening of indole derivatives in bacterial culture broths (IV)	47
	9.4.	Comparison of densitometer and video scanner in quantitative TLC (V)	48
	9.5.	Radical scavenging activity of phenolics by RP-TLC (VI)	49
10.	CON	NCLUSIONS	51
11.	REF	TERENCES	53
ORI	[GINA	AL COMMUNICATIONS	

1. PREFACE

This work was carried out at the Division of Pharmacognosy, Department of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki, during the years 1998-2001.

I wish to express my gratitude to Professor Raimo Hiltunen, Head of the Division of Pharmacognosy and Head of the Faculty of Pharmacy, for his continuous support during this study and for providing the truly excellent facilities for my work.

I am greatly indebted to Professor Heikki Vuorela for valuable advice and countless fruitful discussions during the course of this study. His calm and encouraging presence has been invaluable during all the stages of my work.

I am especially grateful to Docent Pia Vuorela for introducing me to rotation planar chromatography and for sharing her excellent knowledge on all aspects of pharmacognosy and planar chromatography. Without her this work would never have been started.

Docent Hannele Salomies and Docent (Professor) Heli Sirén are acknowledged for carefully reviewing the manuscript and for providing valuable comments and suggestions for its improvement. Dr. John Derome deserves warm thanks for revising the language in several of the publications as well as of the thesis.

Special thanks are due to Dr. Jari Summanen for guiding me, especially in the early stages of my studies, and also for countless discussions on both scientific and other matters.

I also wish to thank Professor Kalevi Pihlaja and Dr. Karel D. Klika for providing the NMR spectra, as well as for the valuable comments on our joint publication.

My warm thanks are due to my co-authors, Dr. Ola Mousa, Dr. Irena Vovk, Dr. Breda Simonovska, Samo Andrenšek, M.Sc., Professor Teemu H. Teeri, Dr. Johannes Pasi Haansuu, Professor Kielo Haahtela, Li Peiwu, M.Sc., and Docent Anu Hopia, for their valuable contributions.

I express my sincere thanks to all my colleagues and the staff at the Division of Pharmacognosy for their support and for creating a pleasant and inspiring atmosphere. In particular, the lunch company of Dr. Jussi-Pekka Rauha, Manu Eeva, M.Sc., Dr. Jukka-Pekka Salo and Tero Wennberg, M.Sc., provided a forum for many interesting discussions on a great variety of topics.

I wish to especially thank Maunu Tainio, M.Sc., the proprietor of Keravan Keskusapteekki Pharmacy and my long-time employer, for his encouragement and positive attitude throughout the experimental part of this study, and the whole pharmacy staff for their flexibility and understanding.

I would like to thank my parents for their support and understanding throughout the course of this study. Most of all I wish to thank my children, Joonas and Vilma, for so efficiently keeping my mind off the work and my feet on the ground. Keep up the good work!

The support of the National Technology Agency in Finland (grant no. 40167/98) is gratefully acknowledged. This study was also supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Science and Sport of the Republic of Slovenia (grants no. J1-3019-0104 and J1-2366-0104) and the European Commission through a project with contract no. ICA1-CT-2000-70034. This study was also partially financed by the Society of Pharmaceutical Sciences in Finland, which is gratefully acknowledged.

Turku, October 2004

2. ABSTRACT

Two planar chromatographic methods were applied for the isolation and separation of bioactive constituents from different natural products. In addition, a new extraction method, namely rotation planar extraction (RPE), was implemented for the extraction of plant material and compared with medium pressure solid-liquid extraction (MPSLE) method.

In the extraction of *Ficus* leaves, both RPE and MPSLE methods were found suitable with respect to extraction efficiency. The quality of the extracts was also shown to be identical between the two methods. The extraction yields of RPE and MPSLE were of the same magnitude and they increased with decreasing plant material particle size. The results obtained in the extraction of onion revealed that the quality of the extracted material can have a significant effect on the extraction process. The high carbohydrate content of the resulting extract tended to plug the MPSLE equipment, while RPE enabled a more convenient extraction procedure with higher yields.

Given the ease of operation and significant time savings achieved, the RPE method with the ExtraChrom® separation instrument seemed to be well suited for screening purposes, in which 20-50 g of plant material at a time are to be extracted and the number of the samples is relatively large. MPSLE proved to be an exhaustive extraction method, and the possibility of scaling up the extraction process makes it a suitable method for preparative extractions.

In this study, RPE and MPSLE methods gave equivalent results in the extraction of floral stems and leaves of *G. hybrida* in terms of extraction yield and the quality of the extracts. The use of ExtraChrom[®] separation instrument prototype, however, permitted extraction with lower solvent consumption compared with the MPSLE method. Application of rotation planar chromatography (RPC) and medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC) for the isolation of gerberin and parasorboside from crude extracts enabled rapid prepurification of the extracts. This permitted an increase in the throughput of the total isolation procedure. As a result of the rapid filling procedure of the planar column, substantial time savings in the separation process were also achieved with the ExtraChrom[®] instrument in comparison to the MPLC method.

Suitable separation conditions for the screening of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and other indole derivatives by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) were obtained with the help of the PRISMA model. The advantage of the optimized conditions lay in its ability to separate the selected indole compounds from a wide range of other indole derivatives, thus making it possible to screen bacterial culture broths and other complex samples for IAA. Furthermore, the TLC method does not necessarily require any instrumentation and the determination can thus also be performed in the field, unlike the analysis with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The optimum TLC solvent combination could directly be transferred to normal chamber rotation planar chromatography (N-RPC) with equally good separation, with savings in both analysis time and solvent consumption.

The suitability of a densitometer and video scanner in the detection of plant phenols by TLC was studied and the optimum performance of the methods was assessed. A mixture of phenolic acids and flavonoids, and of coumarins, were detected by UV irradiation at 254 nm and 366 nm, respectively. The methods were found to be equivalent, on the basis of repeatability, when the results from the densitometric measurements were compared with those obtained with a video scanner. The advantages and limitations of the two systems were discussed.

A method was developed to measure the radical scavenging activity of compounds separated by reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography (RP-TLC) using phenolic acids as model analytes. Thin-layer chromatographic separation was followed by derivatization of the analytes with 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) in methanol (0,04 %, w/v). The compounds possessing radical scavenging activity were detected as bright yellow bands against a purple background. A video documentation system utilizing a charged-coupled device (CCD) video camera was used for the detection of the activity. The RP-TLC-DPPH method correlated well with the widely used spectrophotometric DPPH assay. The results from the measurement of the free radical scavenging activity of rapeseed meal fractions indicated the potential of the method as a rapid alternative to some of the currently used methods in the fractionation and analysis of potential antioxidative compounds in natural extracts.

3. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- Yrjönen, T., Vovk, I., Simonovska, B., Mousa, O., Hiltunen, R., Vuorela, H. and Vuorela, P. (2003): Comparison of medium pressure solid-liquid extraction and rotation planar extraction of *Ficus* leaves with reference to optimum operating parameters. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 26: 3289-3305.
- II Vovk, I., Simonovska, B., Andrenšek, S., Yrjönen, T., Vuorela, P. and Vuorela, H. (2003): Rotation planar extraction and medium-pressure solid-liquid extraction of onion (*Allium cepa*). J. Planar Chromatogr. 16: 66-70.
- Yrjönen, T., Vuorela, P., Klika, K., Pihlaja, K., Teeri, T.H. and Vuorela, H. (2002): Application of centrifugal force to the extraction and separation of parasorboside and gerberin from *Gerbera hybrida*. *Phytochem. Anal.* 13: 349-353.
- Yrjönen, T., Haansuu, J.P., Haahtela, K., Vuorela, H. and Vuorela, P. (2001): Rapid screening of indole-3-acetic acid and other indole derivatives in bacterial culture broths by planar chromatography. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 14: 47-52.
- V Summanen, J., Yrjönen, T., Hiltunen, R. and Vuorela, H. (1998): Influence of densitometer and video-documentation settings in the detection of plant phenolics by TLC. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 11: 421-427.
- VI Yrjönen, T., Li, P., Summanen, J., Hopia, A. and Vuorela, H. (2003): Free radical-scavenging activity of phenolics by reversed-phase TLC. *J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc.* 80: 9-14.

These publications are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers.

4. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMD automated multiple development

APCI-MS atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry

ASE accelerated solvent extraction

CCD charge-coupled device

CLC column liquid chromatography

C-RPC column rotation planar chromatography

DMSO dimethylsulfoxide

DPPH 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl
EPC electro-planar chromatography
FFSLE forced-flow solid-liquid extraction
FFPC forced-flow planar chromatography
FTIR fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
HPLC high performance liquid chromatography
HPTLC high performance thin-layer chromatography

IAA indole-3-acetic acid

IR infrared

LC liquid chromatography

MPLC medium pressure liquid chromatography
MPSLE medium pressure solid-liquid extraction

M-RPC microchamber rotation planar chromatography

MS mass spectrometry

NMR nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy

NP normal phase

N-RPC normal chamber rotation planar chromatography

OPLC overpressured layer chromatography

PEC planar electrochromatography
PHWE pressurized hot water extraction
PLE pressurized liquid extraction

 P_{S} selectivity point R_{F} retardation factor

RPC rotation planar chromatography

RPE rotation planar extraction

RP reversed-phase

SFE supercritical fluid extraction
SLE solid-liquid extraction
S/N signal-to-noise ratio

S-RPC sequential rotation planar chromatography

S_T solvent strength

SWE subcritical/superheated water extraction

TLC thin-layer chromatography

TLE thin-layer electrochromatography

U-RPC ultra-microchamber rotation planar chromatography

UV ultraviolet

UV/VIS ultraviolet/visible

5. INTRODUCTION

Mankind has, throughout its existence, used plant material not only as a source of nutrition but also for numerous other purposes. The knowledge of the opportunities provided by the wealth of nature has become more widely understood as human cultures and civilizations have evolved. In addition to compounds that are necessary for the growth and reproduction of plants, i.e. carbohydrates, proteins and lipids, plant cells synthesize a tremendous number of so-called secondary metabolites, which do not appear to be strictly necessary for the survival of the plant. Often these secondary metabolites are produced as a response to external stimuli, e.g. infection or nutritional or climatic changes, and they may be accumulated in only certain parts of the plant (VERPOORTE 1999).

Indigenous cultures have learnt to exploit the properties of secondary metabolites in many ways, e.g. specific plants or parts of them have been used as poisons, analgesics, stimulants, preservatives, colorants, tanning agents for tanning leather etc. (DE PASQUALE 1984). As our understanding of chemistry and other natural sciences has increased, the active chemical compounds of these traditionally used plants have been successfully isolated and identified. Nowadays, instead of using e.g. pastes or crude extracts prepared from plant material, the tendency is to use pure compounds, irrespective of whether the intended use be analgesia or for coloring fabrics. Of course, there are also many exceptions to this tendency, e.g. refreshments such as coffee and tea are consumed because of their refreshing effect caused mainly by caffeine. Nevertheless, the general trend has been towards the use of pure, and often synthetic, compounds (GRABLEY and THIERICKE 2000, RASKIN et al. 2002).

The first step in the process of obtaining secondary metabolites from biogenic materials is to release them from the matrix by means of extraction (CANNELL 1998). Due to the often very complex composition of the material and the minute amounts of some of the constituents present, the choice of extraction method is of great importance. Obviously, an incorrect choice will cause the entire isolation process to fail if some or all of the desired components of the material cannot be released satisfactorily from the matrix.

The initial crude extract is usually a more or less complex mixture. Quite often there are certain target compounds or compound groups of interest. A logical next step in the isolation process is to separate the target compounds from the crude extract. This can be achieved e.g. by liquid-liquid partition or by some low-resolution chromatographic isolation. The aim of these steps is to concentrate the desired components and make the sample amenable to the final purification steps.

The third step in the isolation process usually involves some type of high-resolution method to separate the compounds of interest from the other compounds still remaining in the extract. As the undesired components of the mixture are likely to bear some resemblance to the target compounds, this stage usually involves optimization of the separation method to achieve sufficient resolution in the final preparative isolation. Often the final isolation step involves

liquid chromatography, especially HPLC or TLC, although other separation methods have been successfully applied (CANNELL 1998).

6. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

6.1. Extraction of plant material

Most of the bulk of the biomass, irrespective of whether it is plants or microbes, exists as fairly inert, insoluble, and often polymeric material, such as cellulose of plants or fungi and the microbial cell wall (CANNELL 1998). The first step of the extraction is therefore to release and solubilize the smaller secondary metabolites in the matrix, resulting in the initial extract.

In liquid extractions the choice of extraction solvent or solvents provides the first and most obvious means of sample preparation (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998). Initial extraction with low-polarity solvents yields the more lipophilic components, while alcohols isolate a broader spectrum of apolar and polar compounds from the material. In addition to the choice of extraction solvent, there are also different approaches to the actual extraction procedure. While stirring or mechanical agitation are the most common methods, percolation or even pressurized solid-liquid extraction are possible. The most commonly used extraction methods are reviewed in the following chapter.

6.1.1. Selection of extraction method

The most widely used extraction processes have traditionally been based either on different liquid extraction methods or on vapor-phase extraction methods (STARMANS and NIJHUIS 1996). A more recent method whose application has steadily increased is supercritical fluid extraction (SFE), which is based on the properties of gases compressed and heated to a state above their critical pressure and temperature, at which no distinction between the gas and liquid phases can be discerned (TSERVISTAS et al. 2000).

At the present time, there are also a number of non-conventional extraction methods in use that are all, in principle, solid-liquid extractions (SLE) but which introduce some form of additional energy to the process in order to facilitate the transfer of analytes from sample to solvent. These methods include ultrasonic extraction, microwave-assisted extraction and pressurized liquid extraction (HUIE 2002, ZYGMUNT and NAMIESNIK 2003), as well as vortical (turbo) extraction. Even extraction by electrical energy has been studied (VINATORU 2001). Forced-flow solid-liquid extraction (FFSLE) techniques, such as medium-pressure solid-liquid extraction (MPSLE) and rotation planar extraction (RPE), are methods in which the extraction solvent is forced through the sample bed either by means of pressure or by centrifugal force, respectively, thus increasing the efficiency of the extraction process. (NYIREDY 2001a). The main advantage of these non-conventional methods compared to conventional SLE methods is the increased extraction efficiency, which leads to increased yields and/or shorter extraction times.

The simplest method of extraction, however, needs no extraction medium. Mechanical pressing has been traditionally applied to the extraction of oils from oilseeds (ABU-ARABI et al. 2000, VINATORU 2001). This process may be combined with some form of pretreatment such as cleaning, dehulling, crushing or flaking before the extraction but, in general, the only equipment needed is a hydraulic press. Despite the simple operating principle, there are several operating parameters that need to be controlled in order to obtain a sufficient extraction rate and yield. The most important parameters affecting the yield of the extraction procedure are the moisture content of the seeds and temperature (ZHENG et al. 2004).

Traditional extraction processes may be classified as follows: extraction with organic solvents: percolation, maceration, and extraction using a Soxhlet apparatus; and extraction with water: infusion, decoction, and steam distillation (SILVA et al. 1998). An old method also worth mentioning is extraction with cold fat, called enfleurage, used mainly for the extraction of fragrances from flowers (STARMANS and NIJHUIS 1996, VINATORU 2001).

Percolation is one of the most widespread methods employed in plant extraction since it does not require much sample manipulation or long pre-treatment times (SILVA et al. 1998). The only equipment required is a conical glass container with a tap at the base used to set the rate of solvent elution. Percolation is a continuous process in which the saturated solvent is constantly displaced by fresh solvent, but normally the sample is steeped in solvent in the percolator for 24 hours for up to three times, and the extracts are then collected and pooled.

In maceration the sample is placed in a stoppered container and is in contact with the solvent. This allows the solvent to penetrate into the cellular structure in order to dissolve the soluble compounds (SILVA et al. 1998). Its efficiency may be increased by occasionally shaking the container or by using a mechanical or magnetic stirrer to homogenize the final solution and saturate the solvent. As maceration is a discontinuous method, the solvent should be renewed until the plant material is exhausted; this requires filtration steps that may result in the loss of solvent, analytes, and/or plant material.

Soxhlet extraction is a very old, clean-up method, but it is still relatively widely used in plant analysis (ZYGMUNT and NAMIESNIK 2003). It is used mainly with one solvent at a time due to the fact that individual solvents may distill off at different temperatures, with the result that the mixture in the chamber containing the drug becomes enriched in the solvent of lower boiling point (SILVA et al. 1998). The main advantages of the Soxhlet technique are that it is an automatic and continuous method that does not require much manipulation. It has also been shown to be very effective in terms of extraction yield and therefore often used as a reference method for newer extraction methods. One disadvantage is that the extractives are heated during extraction at the boiling point of the solvent employed and thermally labile compounds may hydrolyze, decompose, or produce artifacts.

Infusion and decoction are simple methods for extraction with water (SILVA et al. 1998). In the infusion technique, boiling or cold water is added to the milled sample; in decoction the

sample is boiled for about 15 minutes in water. Extraction with pure water, however, is seldom used for plant material as hydrophilic compounds are usually extracted with methanol-water or ethanol-water mixtures.

Steam distillation is an old extraction method that is primarily used to obtain essential oils from plant material. In this method, a packed bed of plant material is continuously flushed with steam and the volatile organic compounds present in the material are taken up by the vapor phase due to their low partial vapor pressure (STARMANS and NIJHUIS 1996). Compounds carried by the vapor stream are then separated after decreasing the temperature of the vapor by forced condensation.

Ultrasonic extraction takes advantage of the very high effective temperatures (which increase solubility and diffusivity) and pressures (which favor penetration and transport) at the interphase between the solvent solution subjected to ultrasonic energy and a solid matrix, combined with the oxidative energy of radicals created during sonolysis, resulting in high extractive power (LUQUE-GARCIA and LUQUE DE CASTRO 2003). Ultrasonically assisted extraction methods have been employed for a great number of different plant materials, e.g. *Salvia officinalis* L., *Valeriana officinalis* L., *Calendula officinalis* L., *Gentiana lutea* L., *Hibiscus tiliaeus* L., and chrysanthemum flowers to name a few (SALISOVA et al. 1997, VINATORU et al. 1997, HROMADKOVA et al. 1999, OTTERBACH and WENCLAWIAK 1999, VALACHOVIC et al. 2001, VINATORU 2001, MELECCHI et al. 2002). Compound groups that have been obtained by ultrasonic extraction include polysaccharides, volatile oils, fatty acids and their esters, stigmasterol derivatives, and pyrethrins.

Another way of increasing the efficiency of conventional extraction methods is to use microwave irradiation. Microwave-assisted extraction consists of heating the solvent in contact with the sample by means of microwave energy. The process involves disruption of hydrogen bonds, as a result of microwave-induced dipole rotation of molecules, and migration of the ions, which enhance penetration of the solvent into the matrix, allowing dissolution of the components to be extracted (HUDAIB et al. 2003). The main advantages of microwaveassisted extraction over the conventional extraction techniques are reduced solvent consumption, shorter operational times, moderately high recoveries, good reproducibility and minimal sample manipulation for extraction process (GARCIA-AYUSO and LUQUE de CASTRO 1999, PAN et al. 2000, GARCIA-AYUSO and LUQUE DE CASTRO 2001, BRACHET et al. 2002, HUDAIB et al. 2003). Microwave-assisted extraction methods have been applied to the extraction of oil from olive seeds, pigments from paprika powders, glycyrrhizic acid from liquorice root, lipids from several oleaginous seeds, cocaine and benzoylecgonine from coca leaves, and alkamides from Echinacea purpurea L. roots (GARCIA-AYUSO and LUQUE de CASTRO 1999, CSIKTUSNADI KISS et al. 2000, PAN et al. 2000, GARCIA-AYUSO and LUQUE DE CASTRO 2001, BRACHET et al. 2002, HUDAIB et al. 2003).

Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE, also commonly known as accelerated solvent extraction; ASE) works according to the principle of static extraction with superheated liquids (BENTHIN et al. 1999). The method uses an organic solvent at high pressures and temperature above the boiling point (ONG et al. 2000). The main reasons for the enhanced performance of PLE are the higher solubility of analytes in solvent at higher temperatures, higher diffusion rate as a result of higher temperatures, and disruption of the strong solutematrix interaction caused by van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding and dipole-dipole attractions between solute molecules and active sites on the matrix. The PLE technique is well suited for the extraction of various types of compound from different plant materials because parameters other than temperature can be varied and the polarity of the extraction solvent can be chosen from a wide range and adapted to the respective matrix. PLE has been reported to have been applied to e.g. the extraction of dianthrons from Hypericum perforatum L., deacylsaponins from Aesculus hippocastanum L., silybin from Silybum marianum L., curcumin from Curcuma xanthorrhiza, thymol from Thymus vulgaris L., flavanones and xanthones from Maclura pomifera, aristolochic acids from Radix aristolochiae, berberine from Coptidis rhizoma and oxysterols from whole egg powder and egg-containing foods (BENTHIN et al. 1999, da COSTA et al. 1999, ONG et al. 2000, BOSELLI et al. 2001).

Subcritical water extraction (SWE, also called pressurized hot water extraction, PHWE, or superheated water extraction) is based on the unique solvent properties of water, namely its disproportionately high boiling point for its mass, a high dielectric constant and high polarity (SMITH 2002). The method involves heating water above its boiling point but below its critical point (i.e. 374°C) under elevated pressure so that the water remains in a liquid state. As the temperature rises there is a marked and systematic decrease in permittivity, an increase in the diffusion rate and a decrease in the viscosity and surface tension. SWE has been found to be an efficient extraction method and a potential alternative to steam distillation and solvent extraction in the extraction of essential oils from plant material. Satisfactory results have been reported for SWE of essential oils from marjoram (*Thymus mastichina*), clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*), fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare*) and sage (*Salvia officinalis*) (JIMENEZ-CARMONA et al. 1999, ROVIO et al. 1999, GAMIZ-GRACIA and LUQUE de CASTRO 2000, OLLANKETO et al. 2001). Besides essential oils, the method has also been applied to the extraction of lactones from kava root (*Piper methysticum*) and iridoid glycosides from *Veronica longifolia* leaves (SUOMI et al. 2000, KUBATOVA et al. 2001).

In recent years, the extraction method that has received increasing attention and many industrial applications in the isolation of natural products is supercritical fluid extraction (SFE). SFE has several advantages over the conventional liquid-liquid and solid-liquid extraction techniques, e.g. the elimination of most of the organic solvents that may pose a safety risk during extraction, elimination of carry-over of the more or less toxic solvents in the final extracts, and the possibility of avoiding the detrimental effects of these solvents on the environment (STUMPF et al. 1992, JARVIS and MORGAN 1997, HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998, TSERVISTAS et al. 2000, LANG and WAI 2001). The disadvantages of SFE include the low polarity of the most commonly used fluid, i.e. carbon dioxide, possible problems

caused by the presence of water, unpredictability of the matrix effect and the need for specialized/expensive equipment (VENKAT and KOTHANDARAMAN 1998).

A number of compounds have been tested as supercritical fluids, including pentane, nitrous oxide, ammonia and Freon® fluorocarbons but, on the grounds of cost and safety, carbon dioxide either alone or modified with methanol or some other polar solvent is by far the most widely used supercritical extraction solvent. It has also the advantage of a low critical temperature and pressure, which enable pressurization of the gas into a supercritical fluid. The practical aspects of SFE and its applications have been recently reviewed (LANG and WAI 2001). Due to the low polarity of carbon dioxide it is best suited for the extraction of nonpolar compounds. SFE has been successfully applied to e.g. the extraction of essential oil from Angelica archangelica L. roots, as well as from Matricaria chamomilla flowerheads, and the extraction of lycopene from tomato skins (DONEANU and ANITESCU 1998, OLLANKETO et al. 2001). However, by varying the pressure and temperature of the supercritical carbon dioxide and the amount of polar modifiers, the method has also been found suitable for the extraction of more polar compounds such as flavanones and xanthones from Maclura pomifera, flavonoids from Scutellaria baicalensis roots and apigenin from Matricaria chamomilla (da COSTA et al. 1999, LIN et al. 1999, SCALIA et al. 1999). A more thorough review on the application of SFE to the isolation of plant products has been published by JARVIS and MORGAN (1997).

6.1.2. Selection of extraction solvent in solid-liquid extraction (SLE)

Although the choice of extraction method may have a significant effect on the quality of the extract, the solvent used provides the most obvious means of influencing the qualitative composition of the extract. Despite this, relatively little attention has been paid to the selection of an appropriate solvent or solvent system for solid-liquid extractions and the selection has been generally based on trial and error (NYIREDY 2000b).

When it comes to characterizing different solvents, the classification system of SNYDER (1978) forms the basis of most approaches to solvent selection. SNYDER calculated the "polarity" or chromatographic strength and selectivity of more than 80 solvents and, on the basis of these values, the solvents were classified into eight groups according to their selectivity, i.e. according to their properties as proton acceptors (x_e) and donors (x_d) , and their dipole interactions (x_n) . A solid-liquid extraction (SLE) strategy based on SNYDER's solvent characterization has recently been proposed (NYIREDY 2000b).

FITZPATRICK and DEAN (2002) outlined a method for the prediction of a suitable solvent for the extraction of pesticides. Their procedure is based on the Hildebrand solubility parameter (δ_t), which is a measure of the internal energy of cohesion in the solvent/solute and can be divided into three components, namely hydrogen-bonding ability, dispersion coefficient, and polarity contributions. This method differs fundamentally from that suggested by NYIREDY (2000b) as the analyte or analytes to be extracted should be known beforehand

in order to calculate the suitability of the possible extraction solvents, whereas the latter is actually a structured trial-and-error process requiring no prior knowledge of the compounds to be extracted.

The effect of the physical properties of the solvents on the extraction procedure has also been studied in the extraction of coumarins from *Angelica archangelica* L. roots by HÄRMÄLÄ et al. (1992c). The results suggested that the physical properties of the solvents, namely density, viscosity and surface tension, do not appear to make any major contribution to the extraction abilities of the solvents. Some of the chemical properties of the solvents, i.e. number of carbon atoms, molecular connectivity indices, selectivity interaction values and solvent strength, on the other hand seemed to be of some importance in the extraction procedure (HÄRMÄLÄ et al. 1992c).

Some of the general properties of the solvent that should be considered when selecting the most appropriate extraction solvent include the ability of the solvent to dissolve the compounds of interest, ease of removal, inertness, toxicity and flammability (SILVA et al. 1998). As expected, the matrix and the target compounds have perhaps the most significant effect on the selection of suitable extraction solvent. Low-polarity solvents yield more lipophilic compounds, whereas alcohols extract both apolar and polar compounds, and water extracts only polar components from the sample.

If the intention is to screen a very large number of natural products, the ease of subsequent treatment of the extracts becomes a significant factor. For instance, dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) has a high boiling point 189°C and its evaporation is an extremely tedious and inconvenient task (ELOFF 1998). If the extracts are to be subjected to bioassays, the toxicity of the solvent may also be critical as the solvent, even in trace amounts, should not inhibit the bioassay procedure. Attention should also be paid to possible interactions between the solvent and solutes as the solvent may react with certain compounds to produce artifacts or cause decomposition, dehydration, or isomerization of these compounds. Examples include methylation or esterification of target compounds by methanol, the formation of acetonides by acetone, and epimerization and hydrolysis of glycosides in acidic conditions (SILVA et al. 1998).

Several criteria have been used in evaluating the effectiveness of the extraction method and the suitability of a solvent for a particular extraction procedure. The most commonly encountered criterion is extraction yield, i.e. the total yield or the yield of a certain target compound or compounds (e.g. HÄRMÄLÄ et al. 1992c, BOURGAUD et al. 1994, KALLITHRAKA et al. 1995, NYGAARD JOHANSEN et al. 1996, ELOFF 1998, REVILLA et al. 1998, ABBOTT et al. 1999, NYIREDY 2000b, FITZPATRICK and DEAN 2002, SHI et al. 2004). In taxonomic studies and general screening purposes, however, the qualitative composition of the extract may be the decisive factor over yield in selecting the solvent of choice. Yet another important and emerging criterion for solvent selection is based on bioassays, i.e. the extracts are subjected to biological tests including lower organisms, isolated

subcellular or cellular systems, isolated organs of vertebrates and whole animals (VLIETINCK 1999). Based on the responses in the bioassays, the solvent giving the highest recoveries is chosen and the extract is further purified to isolate the active component.

The term solvent extraction has traditionally been interpreted as meaning extraction using organic solvents, water or their mixtures. In addition, extractions can alternatively be carried out using water to which a surfactant has been added to improve the solubilization properties of pure water. This method, named micelle-mediated extraction, has been applied to e.g. the extraction of ginsenosides from American ginseng root and the extraction of tanshinones from *Salvia miltiorrhiza bunge* (FANG et al. 2000, SHI et al. 2004). The use of different terpenes (e.g. terpineol, D-limonene, α-pinene, β-pinene) and plant oils (e.g. rosemary oil, lavender oil) and their mixtures for the extraction of insecticidal and bactericidal compounds from plants of the *Chrysanthemum* and *Helianthus* families has also been suggested (PISACANE 2001). Extraction yield can also be increased by enzymatic pretreatment of the material, which causes degradation of the cell walls and thus improves the penetration of the solvent into the matrix (SANTAMARIA et al. 2000).

6.1.3. Medium pressure solid-liquid extraction (MPSLE)

Medium pressure solid-liquid extraction (MPSLE), introduced by NYIREDY et al. (1990a) as a new preparative separation method for laboratory purposes, is an extraction technique based on the principles of the diffusion-dissolving processes of parametric pumping. Changes in temperature, pressure, pH or electrical field, result in a reversible differential alteration of the distribution of components between the solid and the liquid phases. In MPSLE, the extraction column, i.e. a medium pressure liquid chromatographic (MPLC) column, is filled with finepowdered plant material, and the extraction solvent is pumped through the stationary bed. This method constitutes the relative counter-current extraction, and results in exhaustive and rapid extraction. The method can be used for the rapid extraction of various substance classes occurring as complex solid matrices (HÄRMÄLÄ et al. 1992a, RAUHA et al. 2001). The exhaustive extraction of 100 - 3000 g of finely powdered plant material of can be performed with automated equipment within a few hours. The environmentally friendly process performed in a closed system enables operation with a relatively low volume of extractant. The same principals as in column chromatography, e.g. the geometry of the column, physicochemical properties of the solvent, flow rate and amount of solvent, pressure, equilibrium time, sample particle size, compactness and amount of extracted material, are valid in MPSLE (NYIREDY et al. 1990a).

6.1.4. Rotation planar extraction (RPE)

Rotation planar extraction (RPE) is a forced-flow solid-liquid extraction (FFSLE) technique, in which the extraction solvent migrates mainly through the action of centrifugal force (MESZAROS et al. 1987, NYIREDY 2001a). A novel, multi-functional separation instrument prototype ExtraChrom[®] enables the rotation planar extraction of complex matrices because a

planar column can be attached to it and filled with the material to be extracted. Factors affecting the RPE process are basically the same as in MPSLE. Using the ExtraChrom® instrument, solid-liquid extraction and off-line analytical and micropreparative, as well as online preparative solid-liquid chromatographic methods, can be carried out with complex matrices (VOVK et al. 2003). The instrument enables extraction of materials of small particle size, resulting in particle-free extracts. The extraction takes place in a closed chamber, and it is possible to extract the material successively with solvents of different polarity (ANDRENSEK et al. 2004). In the implementation of solid-liquid extraction and extraction strategy as delineated by NYIREDY (2001c) and HÄRMÄLÄ et al. (1992a), the RPE method seems to be well suited for screening purposes when the number of biogenic samples is fairly high and 20-50 g of the material are to be extracted at a time. One disadvantage of ExtraChrom® compared to MPSLE extraction is that it lacks the possibility of scaling up the procedure, and therefore the two methods can be regarded as complementary.

6.2. Thin-layer chromatography (TLC)

6.2.1. Principles of TLC

Thin-layer chromatography is, in essence, liquid chromatography performed on a stationary phase present as a sheet or layer of solid particles immobilized on a planar support, or a layer of polymerized substance (GEISS 1987, BARISKA et al. 1999). Currently, the different variants of TLC form the basis of planar chromatographic methods and, since the 1950s, have almost entirely displaced their predecessor paper chromatography.

In contrast to e.g. column liquid chromatography (CLC), TLC is usually performed in a manually operated, and often to some extent uncontrollable, system. This creates additional challenges for the analyst as a larger number of parameters affect the separation compared to CLC. GEISS (1987) has listed a total of 26 parameters influencing the separation, the most important ones being: sorbent, solvent, chamber type, preadsorption of a solvent mixture, chamber and layer saturation, and particle diameter.

The most common sorbent of choice in TLC is still by far silica, whereas e.g. in HPLC analyses nonpolar reversed-phase (RP) sorbents have almost entirely replaced silica and other normal-phase (NP) sorbents. The mean particle size and particle size distribution of the silica gel used as adsorbent depends on the nature of the separation task: for high performance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC) plates, the mean particle size is approximately 5 μ m with a narrow particle size distribution, and for TLC it is approximately 12 μ m and the particle size distribution is wider. The pore diameter for both is approximately 60 Å and the surface area approximately 500 m²/g (GOCAN 2002).

Other relatively frequently used polar TLC sorbents include alumina, cellulose, chitin and chitosan, and polar chemically silica bonded phases such as aminopropyl, cyanopropyl and diol phases (GEISS 1987, GOCAN 2002). The latter three sorbents can also be used in RP

separations, although RP separations are most often carried out using chemically bonded non-polar phases, i.e. sorbents derivatized with various alkyl groups (e.g. C_2 , C_8 and C_{18}). In the analysis of enantiomers, cellulose, modified cellulose, and cyclodextrin-modified stationary phases, among others, have been applied (GOCAN 2002).

By design, and being an off-line technique, there is practically no limitation in the composition of mobile phase that can be used (SHAH and REICH 1999). This means that the analyst does not need to consider e.g. the possibly detrimental effects of solvents on the detection method when selecting the optimum solvent combination, but can concentrate on maximizing the selectivity of the separation. The selection of a suitable stationary phase, vapor phase, and developing solvent combination is discussed in more detail in chapter 6.2.2.

Solvent flow in TLC is traditionally achieved as a result of capillary forces, i.e. weak forces arise from the decrease in free energy of the solvent as it enters the porous structure of the layer (POOLE 2003). This mode of action has several consequences for the separation process in TLC. First of all, in the case of fine particle layers capillary forces are unable to generate sufficient flow to minimize zone broadening. In addition to this, the mobile phase velocity varies as a function of time and elution distance, i.e. the mobile phase velocity declines as the solvent front migrates further, and the mobile phase velocity is determined by the system variables and is otherwise beyond experimental control. As a result of the inherent properties of the capillary flow, a constant and optimum mobile phase velocity cannot be achieved, thus leading to broad separated zones and limited separation capacity.

In order to overcome the deficiencies of capillary flow separations, a number of forced-flow planar chromatographic (FFPC) methods have been developed and these have been recently reviewed by NUROK (2000) and NYIREDY (2003). A common goal with all these methods is to achieve a sufficient mobile phase velocity, in other words to increase the velocity compared to capillary flow and, if possible, the velocity should be constant at this optimum.

The earliest of these FFPC methods is the application of centrifugal force, which was first mentioned by HOPF in 1947 (NYIREDY 2003). The term rotation planar chromatography (RPC) describes all such separations, both analytical and preparative, in which centrifugal force is used to drive the mobile phase through the stationary phase from the center to the periphery of the plate. It should, however, be noted that terminology in this area is not entirely consistent as the method is sometimes also called centrifugal TLC (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1980, STAHL and MULLER 1982, HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998, GUPTA et al. 2001). The fundamentals and applications of analytical and preparative RPC will be covered in chapter 6.3.

The FFPC technique that has perhaps received the most interest in recent years, and which has also found the greatest number of practical applications, is overpressured layer chromatography (OPLC). The method, introduced by TYIHAK et al. (1979), makes use of overpressure subjected on the TLC plate and a pump to deliver the mobile phase through the sorbent layer. In OPLC, the vapor phase is completely eliminated and, in that sense, it

resembles high performance liquid chromatography. The main advantage of OPLC over other modes of TLC is the possibility to achieve optimum mobile phase velocity over almost the whole separation distance without loss of resolution (NYIREDY 2001b).

OPLC can be used in various off-line and on-line modes, i.e. as a fully off-line process, with off-line sample application and on-line separation and detection, with on-line sample application and separation and off-line detection, and as a fully on-line process (NYIREDY 2001b). The fully on-line process is in fact a form of HPLC performed on a planar column. Special techniques such as multi-layer OPLC and long-distance OPLC have also been developed.

The suitability of OPLC is not limited to analytical separations only as it can also be applied to micropreparative and preparative separations either in an on-line or off-line mode, as reviewed by NYIREDY (2001b, 2001c). The separation of six to eight compounds in amounts up to 300 mg can be achieved using linear on-line OPLC on 20×20 cm preparative plates.

Planar electrochromatography (PEC), also sometimes called thin-layer electrochromatography (TLE) or electro-planar chromatography (EPC), constitutes another means of achieving a constant optimum mobile phase velocity and, additionally, a plug-like flow profile using electroosmotic flow (POOLE 1999, 2003, NUROK 2000, NYIREDY 2003). The first results on the application of electroosmotic flow in both column and planar chromatography were published in 1974 by PRETORIUS et al., but it took approximately 20 years before the next report on electrochromatography on planar layers was published by PUKL et al. (1994).

Since then, interest in PEC has gradually increased and some of the aspects of the theory and practical considerations of PEC have been studied in recent years (POOLE and WILSON 1997, NUROK et al. 1998, 2000, 2003, 2004, SHAFIK et al. 1999, HOWARD et al. 1999, MALINOWSKA 2000a, b). At present, however, no practical applications have been reported with the exception of separations of some simple model mixtures.

In addition to the previously mentioned forced-flow methods, instrumental methods have also been developed to control the environmental factors and enhance the separation efficiency in capillary TLC. Automated multiple development (AMD) is performed using a specially designed apparatus that permits stepwise gradient elution on a TLC plate. The method was developed in the mid-eighties and has some significant advantages over traditional capillary TLC (BURGER and TENGLER 1986, POOLE and BELAY 1991). First of all, the development is carried out in a controlled atmosphere thus enabling the achievement of more reproducible results. Secondly, as the plate is dried in a vacuum between successive runs and the developments are carried out under a nitrogen atmosphere, oxidation of the analytes can be avoided during the chromatographic separation. Moreover, as stated earlier, AMD permits gradient elution. The high separation performance of the method compared to traditional TLC and HPTLC, as well as the effect of the large number of parameters on the results, have been extensively studied by several research groups (e.g.

LODI et al. 1991, GOCAN et al. 1996, ESSIG and KOVAR 1997, SUMMANEN et al. 1998, SZABADY et al. 1999, POTHIER et al. 2001, GALAND et al. 2002).

6.2.2. Method development in TLC

Method development for TLC generally starts with the selection of the basic separation conditions. Besides the choice of stationary phase, the chosen developing technique, the size and type of developing chamber and the vapor space have a pronounced effect on the separation (GEISS 1987, NYIREDY 2002). In practice, however, only little attention is usually devoted to this initial, yet important step.

Unlike the case in HPLC, the most important stationary phase in TLC is by far silica and it is usually selected as the sorbent to start method development with. However, a general approach to stationary phase selection has also been proposed based on the properties of the sample components (POOLE and DIAS 2000). The various method development procedures for TLC presented in the literature usually involve only the optimization of the mobile phase using the previously chosen separation conditions. In contrast, the PRISMA optimization system also includes the selection of these basic parameters and appropriate development mode and operating conditions (NYIREDY 2002).

Most of the published literature on TLC method development focus on optimization of the composition of the mobile phase as it is the second most important factor after sorbent affecting the quality of the separation (GEISS 1987). Generally, the methods rely on empirical data and therefore some experimental runs are required.

The only recently proposed method that does not involve any preliminary experiments is the LSChrom software, which automatically calculates the recommended solvent strength of the mobile phase based on the functional groups of the analytes, and suggests several solvent combinations of this particular solvent strength (PALAMAREVA et al. 2003). It should, however, be noted that the proposed solvent combinations do not take into account the optimum separation of the analyte mixture, the software only suggesting mobile phases which ensure that the retention of all the analytes is in the range of $0 < R_F < 1$.

The retardation factor R_F describes numerically the position of the analyte on the TLC plate. It is the ratio of the distance travelled by the analyte in relation to the distance travelled by the solvent front on the plate, and is described by the following equation:

$$R_F = z_x/z_f$$
 - z_o

where z_x is the distance travelled by the analyte from the starting position, z_f is the distance travelled by the solvent front starting from the bottom of the plate, and z_o is the distance of the start position of the analyte from the bottom of the plate.

New or improved mobile phase optimization methods for TLC have frequently been proposed in the literature. Some of them are based e.g. on the adaptation of window diagrams (COSTANZO 1997), while others rely on mathematical models and numerical methods (CIMPOIU et al. 1999, MALES and MEDIC-SARIC 2001). Several extensive reviews discussing the different optimization methods and their benefits and drawbacks have been published in recent years (SIOUFFI 1991, REICH and GEORGE 1997, ROZYLO and SIEMBIDA 1997, POOLE and DIAS 2000, GOCAN and CIMPAN 2004).

Perhaps the most widely used optimization method in TLC today, however, is the PRISMA optimization system (NYIREDY et al. 1985, 1988, NYIREDY 2002). The system is a structured trial and error method consisting of three parts. In the first part the basic conditions, i.e. stationary phase, vapor phase and individual solvents for the optimization process, are selected. The second part is the optimization of the mobile phase composition using the previously selected solvents, and the third part involves the selection of development mode and chromatographic technique, and the transfer of the optimized TLC mobile phase to the various analytical and/or preparative planar and column liquid chromatographic techniques. A computer program employing the desirability function technique combined with the PRISMA model has also been developed (PELANDER et al. 1999).

6.2.3. Preparative TLC

Preparative TLC is one of the isolation methods requiring the least financial outlay and using the most basic equipment. The technique is suitable for the fractionation and/or isolation of up to 1000 mg of sample depending on the sample composition, layer thickness and chosen mode of action (NYIREDY 2000a). As in analytical TLC, preparative TLC can also be divided into classical capillary-driven preparative TLC and forced-flow preparative TLC, i.e. preparative OPLC and RPC methods.

The main differences between analytical and preparative TLC lie in the layer thickness and particle size of the stationary phase, and the amount of sample applied to the plate. The layers used in preparative planar chromatographic separations are generally $20~\rm cm \times 20~\rm cm$ or $20~\rm cm \times 40~\rm cm$ in size, with a sorbent thickness varying between $0.5~\rm mm$ and $2~\rm mm$. Their particle size is coarse (approx. $25~\rm \mu m$) and particle size distribution wide, usually between $5~\rm and~40~\rm \mu m$ (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998, NYIREDY 2000a). In micropreparative TLC separations, typically up to $10~\rm mg$ of crude or purified plant extract can be applied to a single TLC plate, whereas preparative forced-flow planar separations allow the application of sample amounts of up to $1000~\rm mg$ if the sample contains less than five substances.

For a successful preparative TLC separation, an optimized mobile phase is essential as the separation is generally inferior to analytical TLC. This is mainly caused by two factors: the often larger particle size and particle size distribution of the sorbent, and the overloading of the plate with the sample (NYIREDY 2000a). Overloading can be performed by increasing the sample volume (volume overloading) or by increasing the sample concentration

(concentration overloading), which is more advantageous if sample solubility allows it (WAKSMUNDZKA-HAJNOS and WAWRZYNOWICZ 2002). In the first case the eluted bands are significantly broadened, whereas in the latter case the bands become asymmetric.

The loading capacity of preparative layers increases with the square root of the thickness and therefore, as a rule of thumb, the loading capacity of a 2 mm layer is approximately twice that of a 0.5 mm layer (NYIREDY 2000a). It should, however, be noted that higher resolution can generally be achieved on thinner layers, while the resolution is more limited on thicker layers.

Of the various preparative TLC methods, traditional capillary TLC is suitable if there are no more than five compounds to be separated and they are distributed over the whole R_F range in fairly equal amounts. The total amount of sample should be less than 150 mg. Online OPLC can be used for the separation of five to seven compounds in amounts up to 300 mg, and the appropriate modes of RPC for the isolation of up to ten compounds in amounts up to 500 mg. The aspects of preparative RPC will be further reviewed in chapter 6.3.1.

6.2.4. TLC as a pilot method for RPC and MPLC

All TLC methods, with the exception of OPLC, differ from column liquid chromatography (CLC) in the sense that they are performed in non-equilibrated conditions; CLC is generally a system equilibrated with the mobile phase (NYIREDY et al. 1990b). Using a multi-component mobile phase system in a non-equilibrated system results in the formation of multiple fronts and this phenomenon is called solvent demixing (GEISS 1987). In practice, this means that the TLC system is generally equilibrated only close to the solvent reservoir, i.e. below $R_F = 0.3$.

Transfer of an optimized TLC mobile phase to different modes of RPC is fairly straightforward as long as attention is paid to the saturation grade of the TLC chamber during mobile phase optimization (NYIREDY et al. 1992, NYIREDY 2002). If the TLC method was optimized using nonsaturated chromatographic chambers, the mobile phase can be directly transferred to ultra-microchamber rotation planar chromatography (U-RPC) and column rotation planar chromatography (C-RPC) without altering its composition. The method can also be directly transferred from analytical U-RPC to preparative U-RPC with the same mobile phase. If the TLC mobile phase was optimized in saturated chambers, the microchamber rotation planar chromatography (M-RPC) technique can be used without altering the mobile phase, whether it be for analytical or preparative separations. The properties of the different modes of RPC are described in chapter 6.3.

Unlike the case with RPC, the transfer of an optimized TLC mobile phase to CLC generally involves more possible pitfalls. Solvent demixing poses the greatest difficulty and may lead to entirely different selectivity in column chromatography, even though the solvent systems used are identical. Other factors that may affect the separation include the quality of the sorbent, especially the binders present in TLC layers, but also the different degree of coverage of

bonded phases, and the presence of water on the surface of the layer and in the solvent system (GEISS 1987).

Some reports have been published demonstrating similar retention behavior of closely related coumarins in NP-TLC, NP-OPLC and NP-HPLC, thus suggesting that in these cases NP-TLC is suitable as a preassay for NP-HPLC and can be used to optimize and predict the separation in CLC (HÄRMÄLÄ et al. 1992b, VUORELA et al. 1994). VALKO et al. (1990) studied the retention behavior of some benzodiazepine derivatives by RP-TLC and RP-HPLC and came to the conclusion that RP-TLC can be used for predicting the RP-HPLC retention behavior of these compounds, although the predictive power of TLC was found to be limited. A clear correlation has also been reported for the retention behavior of deoxyuridine derivatives on alumina TLC layers and HPLC using an aluminum column, both in reversed phase and in normal phase modes with different eluents (VALKO et al. 1991).

As the direct transfer of a mobile phase from TLC to various CLC methods, including MPLC, can be generally expected to produce similar separation only when neat solvents are used or the TLC separation is achieved below $R_F = 0.3$, the use of OPLC as a bridge between TLC and CLC (e.g. MPLC and HPLC) has been suggested (NYIREDY et al. 1990b, NYIREDY 2001c). According to this strategy, the optimized TLC mobile phase is transferred either directly after a prerun, or after reduction of the solvent strength to analytical OPLC. Based on the results of analytical OPLC, the MPLC separation may be carried out starting with a dry column, equilibrating it with the optimized TLC/OPLC mobile phase, or with the solvent used for the prerun in analytical OPLC. The major advantage of this mobile phase transfer strategy is that the whole R_F range can be used during the optimization of the TLC separation, and the prediction of the MPLC separation can also be improved.

6.3. Rotation planar chromatography (RPC)

Rotation planar chromatography is a forced-flow planar chromatographic technique utilizing, in addition to capillary action, centrifugal force to drive the mobile phase through the stationary phase from the center to the periphery of the plate (NYIREDY et al. 1989, ERDELMEIER and KÖNIG 1991, MAZUREK and WITKIEWICZ 1998, NYIREDY 2003). The technique can be applied in its various forms to analytical, off-line micro-preparative and on-line preparative separations.

The size of the vapor space is an essential criterion in RPC methods and, based on this, the methods are classified into four basic techniques, namely normal chamber RPC (N-RPC), microchamber RPC (M-RPC), ultra-microchamber RPC (U-RPC), and column RPC (C-RPC). Sequential RPC (S-RPC) is a special technique in which circular and anticircular development modes are carried out sequentially in a normal chamber.

In N-RPC the layer rotates in a stationary chromatographic chamber, whereas in M-RPC a corotating chromatographic chamber is used and the vapor space reduced. When using U-RPC,

a quartz glass cover plate is placed directly on top of the layer which almost completely eliminates the vapor space. All these methods are suitable for preparative separations, and M-RPC and U-RPC can also be applied for analytical purposes.

C-RPC differs from the previous three methods in that the stationary phase is placed in a closed circular chamber (planar column) and hence there is no vapor space. Due to the special geometric design of the column, the volume of the stationary phase remains constant along the entire separation distance and the flow is accelerated linearly as in column chromatography (NYIREDY et al. 1986). The primary advantage of this design is the elimination of the extreme band broadening normally observed in all circular development techniques. As a result of its operating principle C-RPC is only used for preparative separations.

For difficult separations the S-RPC technique utilizing a combination of circular and anticircular development can be used. Since the mobile phase can be introduced onto the plate at any desired point, it is possible to start the separation as in N-RPC in the circular mode, and then use the anticircular mode for pushing the substance zones back towards the center of the plate with a strong solvent ready to be re-separated again after drying the plate. In this technique the separation pathway becomes theoretically unlimited.

Although several prototype instruments for RPC had been developed since the introduction of the method by HOPF in 1947, it was not until the introduction of two commercially available instruments, the Chromatotron (HARRISON 1977) and the Hitachi CLC-5 Centrifugal Chromatograph, that RPC really became of more general interest (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998). Since then, two other commercial instruments, Rotachrom[®] and Cyclograph[™], have also been introduced for RPC, as well as the versatile prototype instrument ExtraChrom[®] for RPC and RPE (MESZAROS et al. 1987, NYIREDY et al. 1989, GUPTA et al. 2001, NYIREDY 2001a). Of the previously mentioned instruments, Chromatotron, Hitachi CLC-5 and Cyclograph can only be used for preparative separations. In contrast, Rotachrom[®] and ExtraChrom[®] are suitable for both analytical and preparative purposes. At present, despite some of its shortcomings, Chromatotron seems to be the instrument that has found the most practical applications both as an intermediate purification step in the isolation of various natural products and also in the isolation of pure substances (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998).

6.3.1. Preparative RPC

RPC is mainly used for preparative separations and all modes of RPC are well suited for this purpose (NYIREDY et al. 1989, MAZUREK and WITKIEWICZ 1998). In the early 1980's most publications dealt with the applications of Chromatotron as a tool for preparative separations. HOSTETTMANN et al. (1980) evaluated Chromatotron for its suitability to achieve rapid preparative separations of various classes of natural products, and came to the conclusion that it is a simple, rapid and economical method for the purpose. However, they found that the resolution was limited and the choice of stationary phases restricted. STAHL

and MULLER (1982) investigated the effect of various flow rates and rotational speeds on the separation performance of Chromatotron. According to their results, maximum resolution was achieved at medium speeds and flow rates and they found the method to be superior to conventional preparative TLC. The construction of the solvent collection system, however, was found to be inadequate as the zones which had already been separated in the layer were partially remixed in the collection system. In a comparison of Chromatotron and preparative liquid column chromatography, MAITRE et al. (1986) found that the resolving power of Chromatotron was superior to that of preparative LC and they concluded that centrifugal TLC was a a rapid, efficient and cost-effective technique for the decigram-scale separation of diastereomers. For larger scale separations preparative LC had advantages. RODRIGO et al. (1999) reported the use of Chromatotron in the preparative separation of a benzothiazinone from other reaction products and found it to be a simple, effective and inexpensive means of separating reaction products in a mixture when other methods fail. Recently, PINTO et al. (2000) reported the successful isolation of peridinin and β-carotene from the marine alga Gonvaulax polvedra in a one-step purification protocol using Chromatotron. The published applications of RPC in natural product isolation have been reviewed by e.g. HOSTETTMANN et al. (1998) and MAZUREK and WITKIEWICZ (1998).

The construction and operating modes of Rotachrom® model P rotation planar chromatograph, as well as some of its preparative applications, have been extensively reviewed by NYIREDY et al. (1989). The instrument had been successfully applied to the micro-preparative separation of coumarins and saponin glycosides, as well as for the preparative separation of a test dye mixture and coumarin-containing plant extract. The methods investigated included M-RPC, U-RPC and C-RPC. The versatility of the instrument was seen as one of its main advantages, whereas the main disadvantage was considered to be the fact that some experience is necessary for a successful separation process. Since sample application is one of the most critical steps in planar chromatography, a solid phase sample application method especially suitable for C-RPC was proposed by BOTZ et al. (1990a). The performance of the method was investigated in C-RPC separation of a furocoumarin-containing plant extract and was shown to enable the application of a large amount of sample with better resolution.

At the present time, relatively few results have been published on the Cyclograph Centrifugal Chromatography System. The instrument has been applied to the fractionation of moderate molecular weight polysiloxanes by GUPTA et al. (2001). The separation time was typically 30-60 min and the solvent consumption 600-900 ml. The method was found effective for the fractionation of 1-2 g of polysiloxanes with a molecular weight less than 50 000 Dalton. The on-line coupling of Cyclograph with athmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry (APCI-MS) as a detection method has been recently studied (VAN BERKEL et al. 2004). Using this arrangement, the eluting components were successfully detected and characterized by the mass spectrometer in parallel with the fraction collection process.

In this thesis the performance of the new prototype separation instrument ExtraChrom® in the isolation of constituents of various natural products was investigated. In addition to the publications included in this study, the suitability of ExtraChrom® has been studied in the isolation of antimicrobial and antioxidative compounds from oak bark (VOVK et al. 2003, ANDRENSEK et al. 2004). C-RPC fractionation of 840 mg of crude oak bark extract yielded 6.7 mg of pure (+)-catechin in one run. The advantages of the method were considered to be the easy and rapid filling of the planar column and the possibility to use adsorbent material of small particle size.

6.3.2. Analytical RPC

The analytical applications of RPC are not as numerous as preparative ones, although some results have been published on the topic. U-RPC separation of iridoid glycosides has been compared to TLC, HPTLC and OPLC, and the resolution was found to be better than with TLC and HPTLC methods (DALLENBACH-TOELKE et al. 1987). The best resolution was obtained using linear OPLC, but the U-RPC method was preferred when a large number of samples had to be analyzed. VUORELA et al. (1988a) achieved a good separation of six main coumarins isolated from the roots of *Peucedanum palustre* (L.) Moench using U-RPC and concluded that radial U-RPC yielded better results than linear elution. In the field of enantiomeric separations, U-RPC has been found suitable for the quantitative analysis of glycyl-D, L-valine and D, L- α -methylserine on chiral plates (NYIREDY et al. 1989). When comparing HPTLC, OPLC and U-RPC in the separation of ergot alkaloids, BOTZ et al. (1990b) found U-RPC to be the most favorable method because, due to the presence of a certain amount of vapor space, the multi-front effect does not occur. BOTZ and colleagues also investigated the applicability of Empore TLC sheets in forced-flow chromatography (1990c). The sheets, which are prepared from silica entrapped in a an inert matrix of polytetrafluoroethylene microfibrils, were found to be unsuitable for M-RPC because of their distortion due to the applied centrifugal force. However, when U-RPC was used it was possible to achieve the optimum flow rate, thus leading to rapid separations with good resolutions. In the analysis of oak bark extract using the ExtraChrom® instrument in U-RPC mode, (+)-catechin and (-)-epicatechin have been successfully separated on a cellulose layer using water as developing solvent (VOVK et al. 2003). The most significant advantages of the method were concluded to be the possibility to use normal, commercially available TLC plates, the adjustable vapor phase, and the possibility of mobile phase optimization using conventional capillary-driven TLC.

6.4. Medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC)

MPLC is one variant of pressure liquid chromatography as opposed to conventional gravity-driven column chromatography (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998). The application of pressure to force the mobile phase through the column has two effects: first of all it increases the flow rate of the eluent leading to faster separations, and secondly packing material of finer particle size can be used, thus giving higher resolution. The different preparative pressure liquid

chromatographic methods are usually classified in four categories according to the pressure employed for the separation, namely flash chromatography (pressure approx. 2 bar), low-pressure liquid chromatography (< 5 bar), medium-pressure liquid chromatography (> 20 bar), and high-pressure (high-performance) liquid chromatography (> 20 bar). It should, however, be noted that considerable overlap exists between the last three classes.

The construction of an MPLC system is fairly straightforward and it can be assembled using various commercially available components, such as pumps, columns, detectors and fraction collectors, although complete MPLC systems are also commercially available from e.g. Büchi and Labomatic (HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998). The construction and assembly of an MPLC system have been discussed e.g. by LEUTERT and VON ARX (1984) and HWU et al. (1987). In contrast to contemporary HPLC, MPLC columns are filled by the user. This can be performed either using a slurry-packing or dry-filling technique, but for bonded phases the slurry method is always used. It has been shown that a higher packing density can be achieved by dry-filling methods compared to slurry packing, and dry-filling is also suitable for silica of 15 µm average particle size (ZOGG et al. 1989a).

Besides the column filling method and particle size of the sorbent, other parameters affecting MPLC separation are the solvent strength, sample load, and column dimensions. Generally, reduction of solvent strength will increase resolution, although at the cost of longer separation time (ZOGG et al. 1989b). It was, however, noted that when n-hexane was used to reduce solvent strength, the viscosity of the mobile phase decreased enabling higher flow rates and thus compensating for the slower migration of the sample components in the column. Sample loads of 3-10 mg sample/g support were found applicable for the isolation of even closely related compounds. The use of a long column with small internal diameter rather than a shorter column with the same amount of stationary phase and a larger internal diameter was shown to significantly increase resolution.

MPLC has been successfully applied to numerous preparative isolations in the field of natural product chemistry. The method has been used e.g. for the isolation of several coumarins in pure form from the roots of *Peucedanum palustre* (VUORELA et al. 1988b), *Heracleum sphondylium* (ZOGG et al. 1989c), and *Angelica archangelica* (HÄRMÄLÄ et al. 1992a). Other examples of successful MPLC separations include the isolation of flavonoid glycosides from *Calluna vulgaris* (ALLAIS et al. 1995), glycoalkaloids from *Solanum tuberosum* (SOULE et al. 1997), and sesquiterpenes from *Petasites hybridus* (SIEGENTHALER and NEUENSCHWANDER 1997). A more comprehensive review of the applications of MPLC in natural product isolation has been compiled by HOSTETTMANN et al. (1998).

6.5. Detection methods

In TLC and other modes of planar chromatography the chromatographic separation and detection of the analytes are in most cases performed separately and the processes are independent of each other (JORK et al. 1990, SOMSEN 1995). Exceptions to this general rule

include on-line OPLC and C-RPC, which may be combined with on-line detection methods (NYIREDY 2003). As most forms of TLC are performed off-line, the analyst has more flexibility in the detection of analytes on the TLC plate compared to column liquid chromatography. Since detection takes place in the absence of a mobile phase, possible detrimental effects of the solvent system can be avoided. Detection is also free of time constraints and allows the use of several sequential detection techniques, of course provided that they are nondestructive (POOLE 1999, SHAH and REICH 1999).

Detection methods can be divided into three main categories, namely physical methods (e.g. UV/VIS, IR), microchemical methods (pre- or postchromatographic derivatization with universal or specific reagents), and biological-physiological methods, which are based on the biological activity of the separated components independent of their physical or chemical properties (JORK et al. 1990).

The most commonly employed physical detection methods are based on the absorption or emission of electromagnetic radiation, which is detected by suitable detectors (JORK et al. 1990). If the analyte absorbs light in the visible wavelength range, i.e. the compound is colored, it can also be detected visually by the analyst. In other cases, e.g. in the UV, IR and radiofrequency range, specific detectors have to be employed. As these detection methods are generally nondestructive, several of them can be used sequentially and they can be followed by microchemical and/or biological-physiological detection methods. Currently, detection methods such as mass spectrometry, MS (see e.g. WILSON 1999), fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy, FTIR (e.g. STAHLMANN 1999), and radioactivity detection (e.g. MOROVJAN et al. 2002) have found numerous applications in the field of TLC, and even the suitability of nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) as a detection method for TLC has been investigated (WILSON et al. 1997). Several extensive reviews have been published on the combination of TLC and the various hyphenated techniques (e.g. SOMSEN et al. 1995, CSERHATI and FORGACS 1997, 1998, POOLE 1999). Table 1 summarizes some of the physical detection techniques that can be combined with TLC.

Table 1 Detection techniques used in TLC.

Detection technique	Principal features of the technique
UV-VIS / densitometry	Free choice of excitation and detection wavelength, possibility to capture UV-VIS spectra of the analytes directly on the plate, fluorescence detection possible, sequential detection of the analytes
UV-VIS / video densitometry	Limited number of detection wavelengths, simultaneous detection of all the analytes on the plate, enables a more convenient analysis of two-dimensional chromatograms
MS	Several ionization methods available, provides structural information about the analytes
FTIR	Can be performed directly on the plate or after elution of the analyte from the sorbent, provides structural information about the analytes
Raman spectroscopy	Sensitivity can be considerably increased by treating the plates with silver solution (surface-enhanced resonance Raman spectroscopy), provides structural information about the analytes
Radioactivity-based methods	Applied both for on-line and off-line detection, several methods available, mostly used for metabolic studies
NMR	Cannot be performed directly on the TLC plate, provides structural information about the analytes
FID (flame ionization detection)	Separation and detection are performed on a specific sorbent-coated quartz rod, suitable for compounds lacking chromophores
SWASV (square-wave stripping voltammetry)	Electrochemical detection technique, detection directly on the plate, sensitive
Photothermal methods	Several methods available, also provides information about the analytes distributed vertically inside the depth of the layer
AAS (atomic absorption spectroscopy)	Analytes are eluted from the layer before detection, used for the determination of metals

The dominant method of documenting the separation on the TLC plate in the UV-visible range is slit-scanning densitometry (POOLE 2003). Current instruments do not only enable the qualitative detection of the separated substances, but also the characterization of the substance by recording the spectrum and quantitative determinations. The technology is relatively mature and major changes in operation and performance of slit-scanning densitometry seem unlikely.

In recent years image analysis, also known as video densitometry, has received considerable attention as a detection method complementary to traditional slit-scanning densitometry. In video densitometry, optical scanning takes place electronically, using a computer with video digitizer, light source, monochromators and appropriate optics to illuminate the plate and focus the image onto a charge-coupled device (CCD) video camera (POOLE 2003). The main attractions of video densitometry are fast and simultaneous data acquisition from the whole plate, a simple instrument design without moving parts, increase in sensitivity by using longer acquisition times, and compatibility with data analysis of two-dimensional chromatograms. At present, however, video densitometry cannot compete with slit-scanning densitometry in terms of sensitivity, resolution and available wavelength measuring range. Because the technology in video densitometry is still rapidly evolving, research in the field has been very active in recent years (see e.g. VOVK and PROSEK 1997, VOVK et al. 1997, ESSIG and KOVAR 1999, PETROVIC et al. 1999, 2000, EBEL and HENKEL 2000, CAMPBELL and SHERMA 2003, HOPKALA et al. 2003).

In microchemical detection methods the TLC plate is sprayed with or dipped into a suitable reagent to form absorbing or fluorescent derivatives with the analytes which can then be detected. Derivatization can take place either before or after the TLC separation, and the terms pre- and postchromatographic derivatization are used to separate these two options. A great number of different universal and specific, i.e. group-characterizing reagents which react with a specific functional group, have been developed and new variants continue to be published (e.g. STAHL 1967, JORK et al. 1990, 1994, TOUCHSTONE 1992).

Biological detection of separated substances on the TLC plate in situ has been applied to the screening of various extracts for e.g. antimicrobial and antioxidant activity or general toxicity (EBERZ et al. 1996, WEINS and JORK 1996, HOSTETTMANN et al. 1997). These methods are especially suitable for screening purposes as the fractions or compounds with most pronounced activity can be detected directly on the TLC plate and subjected to further purification and/or identification steps.

7. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of the study was to investigate the applicability of different modes of planar chromatography in the isolation and analysis of complex mixtures of natural origin.

The specific aims were:

- to study the effect of some operating parameters of MPSLE and RPE extraction methods,
 and to compare the performance of the methods (I, II, III)
- to develop an isolation method for 2-pyrone derivatives from Gerbera hybrida (III)
- to develop a planar chromatographic screening method for indole derivatives (IV)
- to evaluate the performance of a video scanner and traditional densitometer in the detection of plant phenolics (V)
- to establish a rapid assay for the determination of the free radical scavenging activity of phenolic compounds using planar chromatography (VI)

8. EXPERIMENTAL

A detailed presentation of the materials and methods can be found in the original publications.

8.1. Materials

8.1.1. Standard compounds

The standard compounds used in the individual studies are presented in Table 2. The indole derivatives (**IV**) were used as 0.5 mg/ml solutions in methanol. The phenolic acids (**V**) and flavonoids (**V**) were used as 0.5 mg/ml solutions in methanol, except for (\pm)-catechin (**V**) which was used as a 1.0 mg/ml solution and ellagic acid (**V**) which was used as an 0.2 mg/ml solution, both in methanol. Of the three coumarins studied, herniarin (**V**) was used as a 50 µg/ml solution, scopoletin (**V**) as a 25 µg/ml solution and umbelliferone (**V**) as a 10 µg/ml solution in methanol. For the measurement of the free radical scavenging activity the standard solutions of the phenolic compounds were prepared to a concentration of 20 mM in methanol, except for ellagic acid which was dissolved in DMSO (**VI**).

8.1.2. Plant material

Ficus sycomorus L. and F. bengalensis L. were grown in the fields of the Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt. The material was identified by B. El-Dewan (senior research scientist, Ministry of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt). The leaves were air-dried and kept in a paper sack in a dry, dark and cool place and then transferred to the Division of Pharmacognosy, Department of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki (I). The ground and airdried onion, Allium cepa L., was imported from California, USA by Paulig Group Ltd., Helsinki (II). Floral stems and leaves of Gerbera hybrida were collected from a greenhouse in Viikki, Helsinki. The plant material was freeze-dried and stored in plastic bags at -20°C. The material was ground and sieved prior to extraction (III). Leaves of *Phyllanthus emblica* L. were collected from a wild tree close to the beach of Teluk Bahang, Penang Island, Malaysia. The plant was identified by Dr. Mashhor Mansor (School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia), and a voucher specimen was deposited in the herbarium of the School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia. The leaves with their petioles were oven dried at 40°C for 48 hours and kept in paper sacks in dry and dark conditions at room temperature until used (V). The rapeseed meal used in the radical scavenging activity tests was obtained from the companies Mildola Ltd. and Raisio Group Ltd **(VI)**.

 Table 2
 Sources of the standard compounds used in this study.

Compound	Source
	Source
2-Pyrones	
5,6-dihydro-6-methyl-4-hydroxy-2-pyrone	Aldrich Chemical Co., WI, USA
Indole derivatives	
Indole-3-acetic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-acetaldehyde	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-acetamide	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-acetone	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-aldehyde	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-acetonitrile	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-butyric acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-carboxylic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-lactic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-methanol	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-propionic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-pyruvic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Indole-3-ethanol	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
5-Hydroxy-indole-3-acetic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
5-Hydroxy-indole-3-acetamide	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Tryptamine	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
L-Tryptophan	Fluka Chemie AG, Switzerland
3-Hydroxyanthranilic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Flavonoids	
(±)-Catechin	Carl Roth GmbH & Co, Germany
Kaempferol	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Rutin	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Quercetin	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Phenolic acids and derivatives	
Caffeic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Chlorogenic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
3-Coumaric acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
<i>p</i> -Coumaric acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Ellagic acid	Carl Roth GmbH & Co, Germany; Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Ferulic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Gallic acid	Carl Roth GmbH & Co, Germany; Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
3-Hydroxybenzoic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Methyl gallate	Carl Roth GmbH & Co, Germany
<i>n</i> -Propyl gallate	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Protocatechuic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Sinapic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Syringic acid	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Vanillic acid	Extrasynthese S.A., France
Coumarins	
Herniarin	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Scopoletin	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Umbelliferone	Sigma Chemical Co., MO, USA
Miscellaneous compounds	
L-Ascorbic acid	Aldrich Chemical Co., WI, USA
α-Tocopherol	Merck, Germany
α-1 ocopnerol	Merck, Germany

8.1.3. Instrumentation

The instrumentation used in the respective studies is presented in Table 3.

 Table 3
 Instrumentation used in this study.

Method	Instrument	Manufacturer	Publication
MPSLE	Waters A-45 HPLC pump	Waters, Milford, MA, USA	I
	Waters M-600E	Waters, Milford, MA, USA	I, II
	Chromatography pump		
	Waters M-6000A	Waters, Milford, MA, USA	I, III
	Chromatography pump		
	LKB UV detector	LKB Ltd., Sweden	I
	Shimadzu C-R1B integrator	Shimadzu Corp., Japan	I
RPE	ExtraChrom [®] separation	*	I, II, III, IV
	instrument		
MPLC	Waters M-6000A	Waters, Milford, MA, USA	III
	Chromatography pump		
	Hitachi L-5200 fraction	Hitachi Corp., Tokyo, Japan	III
	collector		
RPC	ExtraChrom [®] separation	*	III, IV
	instrument		
	Hitachi L-5200 fraction	Hitachi Corp., Tokyo, Japan	III
	collector		
TLC	Linomat IV TLC applicator	Camag, Muttenz, Switzerland	I, II, III, IV, V, VI
	Chromatogram Immersion	Camag, Muttenz, Switzerland	\mathbf{V}
	Device II		
	Chromatogram Immersion	Camag, Muttenz, Switzerland	III, VI
	Device III		
	Shimadzu CS-9001 PC	Shimadzu Corp., Japan	I, V
	scanner		
	Desaga CD 60 densitometer	Desaga, Wiesloch, Germany	I, IV
	Camag Video	Camag, Muttenz, Switzerland	II, III, IV, V, VI
	Documentation System		
Spectrophotometry		Perkin-Elmer, Germany	VI
	UV/VIS spectrophotometer		

^{*} A prototype, not commercially available.

8.1.4 TLC plates

The TLC plates used in the respective studies were:

Silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ TLC plate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; Art. No. 1.05715) (**I, III, IV**) Silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ TLC plate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; Art. No. 5554) (**II, III, V**) Silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ HPTLC plate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; Art. No. 5642) (**II, V**) RP-18 F_{254s} TLC plate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; Art. No. 5559) (**V, VI**)

8.1.5. Columns and sorbents

The columns and sorbents used in the extraction and fractionation studies were:

Büchi borosilicate column No. 19674 (230 mm × 26 mm i.d., Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Flawil, Switzerland) (**I, III**).

Büchi borosilicate column No. 17982 (460 mm × 26 mm i.d., Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Flawil, Switzerland) (I).

Büchi borosilicate column No. 17981 (460 mm \times 36 mm i.d., Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Flawil, Switzerland) (I).

Büchi borosilicate column No. 17980 (460 mm × 49 mm i.d., Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Flawil, Switzerland) (I).

Büchi borosilicate column No. 19675 (230 mm \times 36 mm i.d., Büchi Laboratoriums-Technik AG, Flawil, Switzerland) (II).

Silica gel 60 HF₂₅₄, mean particle size 15 μ m (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; Art. No. 17739) (III).

8.2. Methods

8.2.1. Extraction of plant material by RPE and MPSLE (I, II, III)

In the RPE method the planar chamber of the ExtraChrom® separation instrument prototype was filled with plant material using a rotational speed of 1700 rpm. The plant material was wetted with a sufficient volume of extraction solvent and left to equilibrate for the desired time. After the equilibrium time the extracts were collected using a sufficient rotational speed and the procedure repeated up to five times if needed. The extracts were evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure and the dry weights of the residues were determined. MPSLE experiments were carried out by filling a column with the plant material and wetting it by pumping a predetermined volume of solvent into the column. The column was left to equilibrate for a predetermined time before pumping the solvent out of the column. The procedure was repeated up to seven times if needed. The extracts were evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure, and the dry weights of the residues were determined. The two methods were evaluated by comparing the extraction yield as well as the quality of the extracts by TLC analysis.

8.2.2. Preparative purification of extracts by RPC and MPLC (III)

The rotation planar chromatographic purification of the extracts was carried out by filling the planar chamber of the ExtraChrom[®] separation instrument prototype with approximately 50 g of dry silica using a rotational speed of 2000 rpm. The sample was dissolved in a small volume of solvent and applied to the centre of the chamber using a low rotational speed. The rotational speed was adjusted to the desired value and the solvent flow was initiated. The

solvent composition was optimised using TLC as a pilot method. A step gradient with increasing solvent strength was applied. MPLC was performed by filling the column first with approximately 50 g of dry silica and conditioning it with the elution solvent for the required time. The sample was dissolved in a small volume of solvent, applied on top of the column and the solvent flow was initiated. A similar solvent combination to that used in RPC was applied with a step gradient of increasing solvent strength. Fractions were collected using an automatic fraction collector.

8.2.3. Screening of indole derivatives by TLC and RPC (IV)

For the TLC analysis the standards and samples were applied to the TLC silica plates as 2 mm-wide bands. 3 μ L of standard and 3 to 5 μ L of sample were applied at an application rate of 10 s μ L⁻¹. The plates were developed in ascending mode in an unsaturated 10 cm \times 20 cm twin trough chamber at ambient temperature and protected from direct daylight. The development distance was 8 cm. The developed plates were dried at room temperature and protected from light, and scanned at λ = 280 nm. The images of the plates were acquired with the Video Documentation System at λ = 254 nm. For the RPC analysis the standards and samples were applied to the TLC silica plates in the form of a circle with a 500 μ L syringe at a point ca. 2 cm from the center of the plate (Hamilton, Bonaduz, Switzerland). The applied volume was 50 μ L or 100 μ L. The speed of rotation was 1700 rpm (57 Hz) and the solvent flow rate was varied between 0.6 mL/min and 0.9 mL/min. The mobile phase was identical with that used in the TLC procedure. Different development distances were tested, the development time with these settings varying between 9 min to 19 min. All the separations were performed by normal chamber RPC (N-RPC), i.e. the vapor space was not eliminated. The developed plates were dried, scanned and documented as described for the TLC analysis.

8.2.4. Comparison of densitometer and video scanner in quantitative TLC (V)

The standards and samples were applied as 6 mm bands on silica HPTLC plates and RP-18 TLC plates, and the rate of application was 10 s/ μ l. The mobile phases were optimized by means of the PRISMA system (NYIREDY et al. 1985, 1988). The separations were performed either in an unsaturated twin trough chamber for 10 cm \times 20 cm plates, or in an unsaturated horizontal developing chamber for 10 cm \times 20 cm plates. The analytes were detected by UV irradiation at 254 nm for flavonoids and phenolic acids, and by UV irradiation at 366 nm for coumarins. The influence of the densitometer and video scanner instrument settings on the quantitative results was studied and the two detection methods were compared.

8.2.5. Assay for radical scavenging activity of phenolics by RP-TLC (VI)

The standards were applied as 9 mm-wide bands on RP-18 TLC plates using an application rate of 15 s/ μ l. The solvent system used was optimized for the separation of rapeseed meal extract according to the PRISMA model (NYIREDY et al. 1985, 1988). The plates were

developed in an unsaturated 10 cm x 20 cm twin trough chamber to a distance of 75 mm. After development, the plates were air-dried for 15 min and the dried plates subsequently dipped in a 0.04 % (w/v) solution of 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) in methanol. The plates were then placed in the center of the imaging cabinet and the images were obtained under visible light 120 seconds after dipping. The spectrophotometric DPPH assay was used as a reference method.

9. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

9.1. Extraction of plant material by RPE and MPSLE (I, II, III)

RPE is a solid-liquid extraction method in which the accelerated flow of extractant is produced by the action of centrifugal force (MESZAROS et al. 1987). In this study ExtraChrom[®], a multi-functional separation instrument prototype with an extraction chamber, was used for the rotation planar extraction of different plant materials, namely *Ficus* leaves, oak bark, dried and ground onion, and *Gerbera hybrida* floral stems and leaves. The RPE method was compared with the MPSLE technique, which is a rapid and easy to perform extraction method, and can be performed in an MPLC system.

A factorial experimental design with three levels was applied for studying the MPSLE process and for predicting the influence of the operating variables, *i.e.* medium particle size of the material to be extracted, equilibrium time and the volume of solvent, on the extraction yield and the quality of the extracts (I). The dried and ground leaves of *Ficus sycomorus* L. served as plant material. For RPE the studied variables were the medium particle size of the material to be extracted and the volume of solvent, and the dried and ground leaves of *F. bengalensis* L. were used as plant material. The optimum results achieved by the methods were compared with each other, and other factors such as the ease of operation, solvent consumption and extraction time were also taken into account.

The results obtained from the MPSLE experiments with *Ficus* leaves showed that the medium particle size of the plant material clearly affected the extraction yield and the amount of nonpolar compounds detected in the extract by TLC (see Table 2 in I). A pronounced increase in the extraction yield, as well as in the peak area of the nonpolar compounds present in the extract, was observed with the smallest medium particle size compared to the other two medium particle sizes. An increase in the equilibrium time increased the extraction yield only slightly, and the other parameters did not reveal any significant changes either. Rotated factor analysis indicated that the most important factor affecting the extraction efficiency was the volume of the solvent (see Table 3 in I). Also cluster analysis revealed a strong linkage between the volume of solvent and the extraction yield (see Fig. 4 in I). The influence of equilibrium time and medium particle size on the extraction process was less pronounced.

The dependence of the extraction yield on the three independent operating variables was studied using multilinear stepwise regression analysis. The regression model had the following form:

$$Y = 699.3 P^2 - 1144 P + 0.98 V + 23.3 T + 980$$

where Y is the extraction yield, P is the medium particle size of the plant material, V is the volume of solvent and T is the equilibrium time. The multiple regression coefficient R for the experimental and calculated residue yield was 0.89.

Choice of the most suitable operating variables for the efficient extraction of the nonpolar coumarin-type compounds from *Ficus sycomorus* L. leaves was evaluated on the basis of extraction yields and the peak areas of polar and nonpolar compounds in the extracts and the lower segments of the column by TLC at 300 nm. According to these criteria, a medium particle size of 0.40 mm, a solvent volume of 90 ml and an equilibrium time of 2 hours were selected as the most efficient conditions for the extraction process.

The influence of the medium particle size of the plant material on the extraction efficiency using RPE differed to some extent from that in the MPSLE method. The highest yield was obtained using a medium particle size of 0.67 mm. The amount of nonpolar compounds in the extract on the other hand was the highest using a medium particle size of 0.40 mm. A direct dependence was observed between the medium particle size and the amount of nonpolar compounds extracted from the outer segment of the planar column, i.e. decreasing the medium particle size of the plant material resulted in a decrease in the amount of nonpolar compounds left in the outer segment of the column, indicating a more efficient extraction. The two extraction methods seemed equal in terms of the volume of solvent used for the extraction. Increasing the volume of solvent led to a slight increase in the extraction yield but, at the same time, the amount of nonpolar components in the extract decreased.

Based on the same criteria as with MPSLE, the optimum extraction efficiency was achieved with a medium particle size of 0.40 mm and a solvent volume of 90 ml, i.e. the same values that were chosen for MPSLE.

In the extraction of onion, the quality of the extracts presented a great challenge, as they were very sticky due to the presence of substantial amounts of carbohydrates (II). This significantly limited the suitability of MPSLE in this work. The flow of extract could only be established by flushing the column with a fourfold larger volume of the extraction solvent and thus quantitative values of extraction yields could not be obtained. With RPE, however, extractions could be successfully carried out despite the viscous nature of the extract.

In RPE, the equilibration time $t_{equil.} = 0$ min produced markedly higher yields than an equilibration time of 60 min (see Table 2 in II). This was probably due to the partial blockage of the extraction equipment and the fact that the very viscous extract remained inside the extraction chamber.

The results obtained for the effect of sample particle size depended inversely on the equilibrium time. For the equilibration time $t_{equil.} = 0$ min, the highest yield of extract was obtained with the smallest particle size, and the lowest yield with the largest particle size, i.e. the yield of extract increased as the surface area of the material to be extracted increased. With the longer equilibrium time $t_{equil.} = 60$ min, the results were exactly the opposite and the highest yield of extract was obtained for the largest sample particle size. The reason for this was probably the previously mentioned partial blockage of the extraction equipment and the high viscosity of the resulting extract.

The qualitative composition of the extracts obtained by MPSLE and RPE was found to be very similar. TLC analysis showed the presence of fructose, glucose, and saccharose, and the presence of oligofructans was also confirmed by TLC (see Figs. 2 and 3 in II). In HPLC-MS, oligofructans with a degree of polymerization up to 12 were detected as the main components of the onion extract (Fig. 4 in II).

In the extraction of *Gerbera* floral stems and leaves, the choice of extraction solvent was based on preliminary antimicrobial assays in which only the methanol extract showed clear inhibition zones against plant pathogenic bacteria and fungi (III). The volume of solvent per cycle, equilibrium time and the number of extraction cycles were chosen in order to achieve a satisfactory compromise between extraction time, solvent consumption and extraction yield, i.e. a total extraction time of approximately 12 hours and a solvent consumption of less than 500 mL were preferred.

A total extraction yield of 41.3% (calculated on the basis of the dry weight of freeze-dried plant material) was obtained with the RPE method from this plant material (see Table 2 in III). The total extraction yield was 45.1% using MPSLE, which was used as a reference method as it has been shown to be an exhaustive extraction technique (MOUSA, 1995). Although the total extraction yield obtained by the RPE method was less than that with the MPSLE method, the difference was not really significant and may be partly due to the different solvent flow rates. Qualitative TLC analysis revealed no differences in the composition of the extracts obtained with RPE and with MPSLE (see Fig. 2 in III). The extraction yields obtained by the two methods in this study are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4 Comparison of extraction yields by the RPE and MPSLE methods.

Original publication	Extraction yield/p	Extraction yield/plant material (mg/g)	
	RPE	MPSLE	
I^a	22	19	
Π_{p}	113	31	
III ^c	413	451	

^a Extracted material *Ficus* leaves, extraction solvent chloroform, optimum operating variables.

The differences between the two extraction methods are primarily due to the way the solvent flow is created in the column, i.e. in RPE by centrifugal force, and in MPSLE by a pump, and in the geometry of the column. However, RPE does have one significant advantage over MPSLE in that centrifugal force is used to produce the accelerated solvent flow. With RPE it is possible to drive the extraction solvent out of the column without pumping more solvent into the column, unlike the case with MPSLE where the solvent has to be forced out of the column by displacing it with an equal volume of new solvent. This provides a practical means of reducing solvent consumption, which is of both environmental and economical benefit. An additional advantage of the ExtraChrom® instrument lay in the possibility to use raw material of very small particle size in the extraction process. Because of the construction of the

^b Extracted material onion, extraction solvent methanol-water (80:20, v/v), equilibrium time 60 min, medium particle size 1.5 mm (the only conditions that permitted MPSLE of the material due to the stickiness of the extracts).

^c Extracted material *Gerbera* stems and leaves, extraction solvent methanol.

instrument, there is no risk of plugging the system, whereas with MPSLE finely pulverised materials sometimes cause problems, namely increased back pressure and plugging of the lower frit of the column.

9.2. Purification of 2-pyrone derivatives from *Gerbera hybrida* (III)

When optimising the mobile phase for the separation of gerberin and parasorboside, the best results were achieved in TLC using the solvent system consisting of methanol, ethyl acetate and tetrahydrofuran at selectivity point $P_S = 118$. However, due to solubility problems with this solvent combination, selectivity point $P_S = 111$ was chosen for RPC and MPLC. The optimised step gradients (see Table 1 in III) enabled the complete elimination of chlorophylls and other non-polar compounds from the extract by both RPC and MPLC. Gerberin and parasorboside, on the other hand, were not completely separated. Therefore the fractions containing either gerberin or parasorboside, or a mixture of these two compounds, were combined and the resulting mixture was subjected to further purification and subsequent isolation of the pure compounds by TLC.

The problems arising from insufficient resolution affected both RPC and MPLC. However, they were more problematic in the RPC method. This may have been partly due to manual application of the extract into the column, and also to remixing of the solvent in the collecting channel before reaching the output opening. These problems had the greatest effect on compounds that elute close to each other, thus limiting the use of the current ExtraChrom® separation instrument prototype in difficult separations, i.e. the instrument can, at its present stage, be applied for fast preliminary separations where the purity of the fractions is not critical. The prototype could, however, be improved, e.g. by adding more output openings to the collecting channel in order to reduce any remixing of the solvent (MESZAROS et al., 1987), and by developing a more reproducible application procedure. In any case the RPC method is superior to MPLC in the rapidity of the separation process, especially as regards filling of column; it takes approximately 10 min for RPC and 12-24 hours for MPLC (ZOGG et al., 1989a).

The optimised TLC method proved to be a useful and simple procedure for isolating gerberin and parasorboside. A total of 35 mg of the purified extract was applied onto silica TLC plates and separated, using methanol-ethyl acetate-tetrahydrofuran-n-hexane-formic acid (8:9:80:3:1, v/v/v/v) as the eluent, to give 16.1 mg of gerberin and 9.7 mg of parasorboside. According to TLC analysis, the purity of gerberin was > 94%, but parasorboside contained slightly more impurities (purity ~ 92%), mainly gerberin and an unknown polar impurity (see Table 3 in III).

The identification of gerberin and parasorboside was based on the MS and NMR studies. LC/MS analysis yielded small, but diagnostic [M+1] ions of 291 and 293 amu for gerberin and parasorboside, respectively. The identification of gerberin was readily straightforward on the basis of the ¹³C NMR and ¹H NMR spectra; the carbon spectrum was sufficiently

consistent with the literature values (NAGUMO et al., 1989) despite the different solvent (in this work d_6 -DMSO was used instead of d_5 -pyridine). The identification of parasorboside was more problematic due to the presence of some minor impurities whose signals overlapped with several of the parasorboside sugar-ring proton resonances. In addition to the standard techniques, selective 1-D TOCSY analyses were used to confirm the overlapped assignments from the COSY analyses, and to identify the multiplet peaks in the 1-D 1 H NMR spectra in order to enable extraction of the chemical shifts and coupling constants. Both the 1 H NMR and 13 C NMR spectra were sufficiently consistent with the literature values (NUMATA et al., 1990) despite the different solvent (in this work d_6 -DMSO was used instead of d_4 -methanol). The spectral assignments for both compounds are listed in Tables 5 and 6.

Table 5 13 C-NMR chemical shifts of gerberin and parasorboside in d_6 -DMSO.

	Comp	ound
C-atom	Gerberin	Parasorboside
1	166.13	169.55
2	93.06	35.33
3	170.28	69.67
4	33.15	35.08
5	71.71	72.10
6	20.12	21.02
1'	98.77	101.63
2'	72.73	76.54
3'	76.12	73.28
4'	69.27	70.02
5'	77.18	76.77
6'	60.35	61.06

Table 6 1 H-NMR data of gerberin and parasorboside in d_{6} -DMSO.

	Chem	ical shift ^a	Multiplicity ^b		H,H coupling (J) ^c	
Н-	Gerberin	Parasorboside	Gerberin	Parasorboside	Gerberin	Parasorboside
atom						
2	5.304	_	S		_	
2α		2.562		d(AB)dd		1.7,3.1,17.7
2β		2.719		d(AB)d		4.9,17.6
3β		~4.21		m		_
4α	2.470	2.090	d	dm	7.4	14.3
4β	2.470	1.674	d	ddd	7.4	2.9,11.4,14.3
5	4.507	4.728	tq	dqd	6.3,7.6	2.8,5.9,12.8
6	1.331	1.267	d	d	6.3	6.4
1'	4.940	4.940	d	d	7.8	7.8
2'	~3.17	~3.16	d(AB)d(AB)	m (o'lapped)	7.8,8.9	d
3'	~3.24	2.928	$t(2\times AB)$	t	8.9	8.4
4'	~3.15	3.018	d(AB)d(AB)	t	8.9,9.6	9.2
5'	3.356	~3.11	ddd	m (o'lapped)	2.0,5.5,9.6	d
6'	3.660	~3.65	dd	dd (o'lapped)	1.8,11.9	1.8,~10
6''	3.453	~3.39	dd	dd (o'lapped)	5.6,11.9	~5,~10

 $^{^{}a}$ δ_{H} in ppm.

^b Key to abbreviations: s – singlet, d – doublet, t – triplet, q – quartet, m - multiplet

^c J in Hz

^d Not determined due to signal overlap.

9.3. Screening of indole derivatives in bacterial culture broths (IV)

The PRISMA system (NYIREDY et al. 1985, 1988) was used in the pre-assays to optimize the solvent composition. On the basis of preliminary experiments, acetic acid (solvent strength $S_{HOAc} = 6.0$ according to SNYDER [1978]), ethyl acetate ($S_{EtOAc} = 4.4$) and toluene ($S_{Tol} = 2.4$) were selected for further optimization at different selectivity points (P_S). The optimal separation was achieved at selectivity point P_S 127, and the solvent strength was adjusted to $S_T = 2.4$ with n-hexane. This gave a solvent composition of acetic acid—ethyl acetate—toluene—n-hexane, (4:11:70:15, v/v/v/v). The chosen solvent composition later referred to as solvent system 1, was then applied for TLC and RPC without modifications.

The optimized solvent system was compared with the TLC system published by HAAHTELA et al. (1990). One of the mobile phases they used to detect indole compounds produced by bacteria consisted of chloroform–ethyl acetate–formic acid, (5:4:1, v/v/v). The solvent combination gives a moderate separation and even L-tryptophan migrates from the application position. However, the R_F values of the majority of the indole compounds lie very close to each other, between 0.6 and 0.9. As a result, several compounds including IAA comigrate and cannot be separated.

Using a mixture of chloroform–ethyl acetate–formic acid, (8:1:1, v/v/v), optimized on the basis of the system by HAAHTELA et al. (1990), the R_F values of the compounds were more evenly spread over a wider range. This can be considered an improvement, but IAA could still not be separated from all the other indole derivatives. The system gave a better separation over the lower R_F range than the system optimized with the help of the PRISMA model and was therefore used as a complementary method in TLC. This mobile phase is later referred to as solvent system 2, and the system published by HAAHTELA et al. (1990) as solvent system 3. The solvent systems are presented in Table 7.

Table 7 Solvent systems used in the screening of indole derivatives.

Solvent system	Composition	Reference
1	acetic acid–ethyl acetate–toluene–n-hexane, (4:11:70:15, v/v/v/v)	IV
2	chloroform–ethyl acetate–formic acid, (8:1:1, v/v/v)	IV
3	chloroform–ethyl acetate–formic acid, (5:4:1, v/v/v)	HAAHTELA et al. 1990

IAA could be separated from all the other compounds with solvent system 1 (see Fig. 5a in IV). In addition to the compounds that remained at, or very close to the application position and therefore could not be separated, 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid and indole-3-ethanol formed a critical pair that was not separable with this system. Indole-3-acetone, indole-3-butyric acid, indole-3-carboxylic acid and indole-3-propionic acid also comigrated and formed a broad peak in the densitogram. This was considered to be acceptable because the main objective was to screen the bacterial culture broths for IAA, and the other studied solvent systems that could not separate IAA from all the other compounds could be used to complement the TLC analysis.

The TLC method with solvent system 1 was applied for screening IAA from the bacterial culture broths. Identification of the compounds was based on their R_F values and UV spectra measured directly on the TLC plate. The culture broths of *Bacillus sp.* strain KMNL2 and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain KNCNK13 were found to contain only traces of IAA. The culture broth of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strain As contained indole-3-aldehyde as the main indole derivative, but also a prominent peak corresponding to IAA and, in contrast to the other cultures, indole-3-methanol as a minor constituent (see Fig. 6a in **IV**). Both indole-3-aldehyde and indole-3-methanol are known to be degradation products of IAA produced by oxidative decarboxylation (FUCHS and SPITELLER 1997).

The unmodified solvent system 1 was applied for the N-RPC separation of the indole compounds. The TLC and RPC methods correlated very well (see Figs. 2-5 in **IV**). Indole-3-carboxylic acid and indole-3-propionic acid, which migrated together with the TLC method, were partially separated by RPC. This was to some extent due to the higher R_F values obtained for the compounds less strongly retained by RPC. The higher R_F values obtained by RPC meant that shorter separation distances could be used, resulting in savings in analysis time and solvent consumption. Development over the distance of 5 cm took 9 min by RPC vs. 20 min by TLC with a migration distance of 8 cm. The solvent consumption of one 9-min RPC analysis with a flow rate of 0.9 mL/min was approximately 8 mL.

Solvent systems 2 and 3 were unsuitable for N-RPC and a satisfactory separation was not achieved. This was probably due to the formic acid concentration in the solvent systems, as well as to the large vapor space of the N-RPC system. The proportion of formic acid, which is a relatively non-volatile compound, increased at the expense of the more volatile compounds (chloroform and ethyl acetate) as the solvent front migrated further, thus leading to the formation of a solvent mixture of entirely different composition. As a result, the analytes could not be separated and detected in a satisfactory manner.

The N-RPC method with solvent system 1 was applied for the screening of IAA from the culture broth of *Bacillus sp.* strain KMNL2, known to contain IAA. The results were in agreement with those obtained by the TLC method (see Fig. 6 in **IV**).

9.4. Comparison of densitometer and video scanner in quantitative TLC (V)

In the densitometric detection the slit size of $1.0 \text{ mm} \times 5.0 \text{ mm}$ provided optimum results and was therefore chosen for the study. The effect of data accumulation function values of 1 and 4 was studied. Since no significant differences were observed and the higher value markedly increased the analysis time, the data accumulation function was set to the value of 1.

The settings optimized in the video scanner detection included DTL, frame accumulation, integration period and aperture (see Table 1 in V). The DTL setting affects the resolution of the image. For the quantitative measurements the off mode yielded the best results and all comparisons were made with DTL set off. The frame accumulation is used to accumulate

several images of the TLC plate, which in turn increases the possibility to capture faint spots on the layer. For the phenolic acids and flavonoids better results were achieved with the frame accumulation turned off, whereas the coumarins could be better detected with the frame accumulation on. This was most probably due to the different detection wavelengths used for the mixtures. Four different integration periods were tested, i.e. exposure times from 40 ms to 200 ms were applied. For the phenolic acids and flavonoids an exposure time of 40 ms was chosen, and for the coumarins the optimal exposure time was 200 ms. Large aperture settings proved to be the most suitable for detection and f = 2.0 was chosen for phenolic acids and flavonoids and f = 2.8 for coumarins.

The repeatability of the methods was evaluated using methyl gallate ($\lambda = 254$ nm) and umbelliferone ($\lambda = 366$ nm) as standards. The tracks were detected six consecutive times by both densitometer and video scanner. For methyl gallate the relative standard deviations of the peak area using the densitometer were 0.4% for NP-TLC and 0.9% for RP-TLC. The repeatability of video scanner detection was not quite as good, the relative standard deviations being 3.8% and 1.5% for NP-TLC and RP-TLC, respectively. When detecting umbelliferone at $\lambda = 366$ nm the video scanner on the other hand performed better than the densitometer. The relative standard deviations of the peak area for the video scanner were 1.5% for NP-TLC and 0.5% for RP-TLC, whereas the relative standard deviations of the densitometer were 1.9% for both NP-TLC and RP-TLC.

The two detection methods were also compared in detecting an unidentified gallic acid derivative in the *Phyllanthus emblica* L. ethyl acetate fraction (chromatograms are presented in Fig. 2 in V). The quantitation was based on the calibration data for methyl gallate. The quantitative results obtained with the densitometer were approximately equal with the densitometer and the video scanner, i.e. the calculated amount of gallic acid derivative in the sample was $0.51~\mu g$ with the densitometer and $0.46~\mu g$ with the video scanner (see Table 4 in V). In terms of repeatability the densitometer performed better with a relative standard deviation of 6.8% vs. 14.2% for the video scanner.

9.5. Radical scavenging activity of phenolics by RP-TLC (VI)

For silica plates the purple background produced by the DPPH radical after spraying the plate with DPPH solution has been shown to be relatively stable, thus enabling the examination of radical scavenging activity after a period of 30 minutes (CUENDET et al. 1997, CAVIN et al. 1998). In our study the same was found to be true for dipping the silica plates in DPPH solution. However, this was not the case when using reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography plates. The developing colour proved to be very unstable and started to fade in approximately 3 min after dipping. The fading background led to poor peak shapes, as well as to decreased peak heights and areas. Increased interference from the background also made it necessary to use manual integration, thus adding uncertainty to the analysis. Since conventional slit-scanning densitometers operate serially, i.e. measure the response lane by lane, which is time consuming and results in poor accuracy and repeatability with this assay,

they could not be applied for the quantitative determination of radical scavenging activity directly from the RP-TLC plate.

The problem of declining intensity of the forming colour can, however, be circumvented by using an image analysis system that obtains the image of the whole plate simultaneously with a CCD video camera. Several systems are commercially available and they have been shown to perform almost as well as slit-scanning densitometers in terms of accuracy, precision and robustness (VOVK and PROŠEK 1997, VOVK et al. 1997, PETROVIC et al. 1999, 2000).

Measurement of the radical scavenging ability of the tested compounds on RP-TLC plates was based on the peak areas produced with a video scanning system 2 minutes after dipping. Polynomial second degree calibration equations calculated for the standards were found to give satisfactory correlation with regression coefficients of between $r^2 = 0.947$ and $r^2 = 0.996$ for protocatechuic acid and caffeic acid, respectively (see Table 1 in VI).

With the RP-TLC-DPPH method, gallic acid, ellagic acid, L-ascorbic acid and 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid were the most active DPPH radical scavengers depending on the amount applied to the plate (see Fig. 2 in VI). Coumaric acid, *p*-coumaric acid, 3-hydroxybenzoic acid and vanillic acid, on the other hand, showed no radical scavenging activity. With this method gallic acid showed significantly higher radical scavenging activity than *n*-propyl gallate. The non-polar nature of the RP-TLC sorbent may account for this difference. The dimethoxylated phenolic acids, syringic acid and sinapic acid, scavenged DPPH radicals more effectively than the diphenolic acids protocatechuic acid and caffeic acid with this method, in contradiction to the results of the spectrophotometric assay.

Detection limits were determined for all the tested compounds based on a signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) of 3 after dipping the plates in DPPH solution. The detection limits varied between 40 ng and 689 ng for syringic acid and α -tocopherol, respectively (see Table 2 in VI).

Both methods were compared by performing regression and correlation analyses. Outliers were tested by F approximation. The two methods seemed to be relatively similar. However, a few exceptions were detected. Syringic acid, ascorbic acid and n-propyl gallate were shown to be outliers in the regression analyses with p>6/N resulting in $r^2 = 0.545$. After excluding these three compounds a value of $r^2 = 0.923$ was obtained.

The RP-TLC-DPPH method was applied for measuring the free radical scavenging activity of rapeseed meal fractions separated by RP-TLC. A total of 10 separate bands with free radical scavenging activity were detected, with R_F values ranging from 0.04 to 0.85 (see Fig. 3 in VI). The most active fraction observed was the one with an R_F value of 0.41 that possessed 38% of the total radical scavenging activity.

10. CONCLUSIONS

Both the RPE and MPSLE methods were shown to yield satisfactory results in the preparative scale extraction of secondary metabolites from natural products. The optimum values of the studied operating parameters, determined for the extraction of *Ficus* leaves, were found to be identical between the two methods. The methods were also found to be roughly equivalent in terms of extraction efficiency and quality of the extracts. For difficult matrices such as onion, which contains substantial amounts of carbohydrates, the use of RPE was found to be advantageous, as the high carbohydrate content made the extract very sticky and it tended to plug the MPSLE equipment.

The main advantages of RPE over MPSLE were the simple and rapid operation of the instrument resulting in significant time savings, and reduced solvent consumption, because extraction solvent could be driven out of the extraction chamber without the need to displace it with the same volume of fresh solvent. RPE, however, lacks the possibility of scaling up the extraction process and therefore, if larger amounts of material need to be extracted, MPSLE outperforms RPE.

In the preparative isolation of gerberin and parasorboside from the extracts of *G. hybrida*, both the RPC and MPLC methods allowed rapid prepurification of the extracts, although the compounds could not be completely separated in one run. As a result of the very rapid filling procedure of the planar column, substantial time savings were achieved by using RPC in comparison to MPLC.

The PRISMA model was successfully applied to the optimization of the TLC mobile phase for various indole derivatives. The optimized mobile phase separated IAA from a wide range of other indole derivatives, thus enabling screening of bacterial culture broths and other complex samples for IAA. The optimized TLC mobile phase was directly transferred to N-RPC without any loss in resolution, but this resulted in shorter analysis times and reduced solvent consumption.

The comparison of the performance of a densitometer and video scanner in the quantitative analysis of plant phenolics by UV irradiation at 254 nm and 366 nm confirmed that the methods can be considered approximately equal in terms of repeatability and recovery. One of the main advantages of densitometry is the free choice of detection wavelength, whereas video scanners provide faster detection and the possibility to archive the captured images in digital form.

RP-TLC combined with dipping the plate in DPPH solution afforded a quick and simple method for identifying compounds with radical scavenging activity from plant extracts. As the developing color was very unstable, a video scanner was used for the simultaneous detection and quantitation of the activity. The developed RP-TLC-DPPH method was shown to correlate well with the widely used spectrophotometric DPPH assay. The results from the

measurement of the free radical scavenging activity of rapeseed meal fractions showed that the method can be efficiently used for the fractionation and analysis of potential antioxidative compounds in natural extracts.

In conclusion, the results obtained with the extraction techniques and planar chromatographic methods indicated their potential as rapid and simple tools in the isolation and analysis of various natural products. It is, however, evident that further experiments are still needed in the studied areas, especially with regard to the application of the ExtraChrom® prototype separation instrument, in order to reach their full potential in natural product chemistry.

11. REFERENCES

- ABBOTT, T.P., HOLSER, R.A., PLATTNER, B.J., PLATTNER, R.D. and PURCELL, H.C. (1999): Pilot-scale isolation of simmondsin and related jojoba constituents. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 10: 65-72.
- ABU-ARABI, M.K., ALLAWZI, M.A., AL-ZOUBI, H.S. and TAMIMI, A. (2000): Extraction of jojoba oil by pressing and leaching. *Chem. Eng. J.* 76: 61-65.
- ALLAIS, D.P., CHULIA, A.J., KAOUADJI, M., SIMONS, A. and DELAGE, C. (1995): 3-Desoxycallunin and 2"-acetylcallunin, two minor 2,3-dihydroflavonoid glucosides from *Calluna vulgaris*. *Phytochemistry* 39: 427-430.
- ANDRENŠEK, S., SIMONOVSKA, B., VOVK, I., FYHRQUIST, P., VUORELA, H. and VUORELA, P. (2004): Antimicrobial and antioxidative enrichment of oak (*Quercus robur*) bark by rotation planar extraction using ExtraChrom®. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 92: 181-187.
- BARISKA, J., VALKO, K., TAKACS-NOVAK, K. and KALASZ, H. (1999): Planar chromatography as we see it. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 46-50.
- BENTHIN, B., DANZ, H. and HAMBURGER, M. (1999): Pressurized liquid extraction of medicinal plants. *J. Chromatogr. A* 837: 211-219.
- BOSELLI, E., VELAZCO, V., CABONI, M.F. and LERCKER, G. (2001): Pressurized liquid extraction of lipids for the determination of oxysterols in egg-containing food. *J. Chromatogr. A* 917: 239-244.
- BOTZ, L., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1990a): A new solid phase sample application method and device for preparative planar chromatography. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 3: 10-14.
- BOTZ, L., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1990b): Separation of ergot alkaloids by HPTLC, OPLC, and rotation planar chromatographic (RPC) methods. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 3: 193-195.
- BOTZ, L., NYIREDY, Sz., WEHRLI, E. and STICHER, O. (1990c): Applicability of EmporeTM TLC sheets for forced-flow planar chromatography. I. Characterization of the silica sheets. *J. Liq. Chromatogr.* 13: 2809-2828.
- BOURGAUD, F., POUTARAUD, A. and GUCKERT, A. (1994): Extraction of coumarins from plant material (Leguminosae). *Phytochem. Anal.* 5: 127-132.
- BRACHET, A., CHRISTEN, P. and VEUTHEY, J.-L. (2002): Focused microwave-assisted extraction of cocaine and benzoylecgonine from coca leaves. *Phytochem. Anal.* 13: 162-169.
- BURGER, K.D. and TENGLER H. (1986): Automatic multiple development a new technique of thin layer chromatography. Pp. 193-205. In Kaiser, R.E. (ed.): Planar chromatography Vol. 1. Dr. Alfred Huethig Verlag, Heidelberg-Basel-New York.
- CAMPBELL, A.N. and SHERMA, J. (2003): Determination of famotidine in acid reduction tablets by HPTLC and videodensitometry of fluorescence quenched zones. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 26: 2719-2727.
- CANNELL, R.J.P. (1998): How to approach the isolation of a natural product. Pp. 1-51. In Cannell, R.J.P. (ed.): Methods in biotechnology 4. Natural products isolation. Humana Press, Totowa, New Jersey, USA.

- CAVIN, A., HOSTETTMANN, K., DYATMYKO, W. and POTTERAT, O. (1998): Antioxidant and lipophilic constituents of *Tinospora crispa*. *Planta Med*. 64: 393-396.
- CIMPOIU, C., JANTSCHI, L. and HODISAN, T. (1999): A new mathematical model for the optimization of the mobile phase composition in HPTLC and the comparison with other models. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 22: 1429-1441.
- da COSTA, C.T., MARGOLIS, S.A., BENNER JR., B.A. and HORTON, D. (1999): Comparison of methods for extraction of flavanones and xanthones from the root bark of the osage orange tree using liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 831: 167-178.
- COSTANZO, S.J. (1997): Optimization of mobile phase conditions for TLC methods used in pharmaceutical analyses. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 35: 156-160.
- CSERHATI, T. and FORGACS E. (1997): Trends in thin-layer chromatography: 1997. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 35: 383-391.
- CSERHATI, T. and FORGACS E. (1998): Hyphenated techniques in thin-layer chromatography. *J. AOAC Int.* 81: 329-332.
- CSIKTUSNADI KISS, G.A., FORGACS, E., CSERHATI, T., MOTA, T., MORAIS, H. and RAMOS, A. (2000): Optimisation of the microwave-assisted extraction of pigments from paprika (*Capsicum annuum* L.) powders. *J. Chromatogr. A* 889: 41-49.
- CUENDET, M., HOSTETTMANN, K., POTTERAT, O. and DYATMIKO, W. (1997): Iridoid glucosides with free radical scavenging properties from *Fagraea blumei*. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 80: 1144-1152.
- DALLENBACH-TOELKE, K., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1987): Application of various planar chromatographic techniques for the separation of iridoid glycosides from *Veronica officinalis*. *J. Chromatogr.* 404: 365-371.
- DE PASQUALE, A. (1984): Pharmacognosy: the oldest modern science. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 11: 1-16.
- DONEANU, C and ANITESCU, G. (1998): Supercritical carbon dioxide extraction of *Angelica archangelica* L. root oil. *J. Supercrit. Fluids* 12: 59-67.
- EBEL, S. and HENKEL, T. (2000): Evaluation in HPTLC by use of imaging systems. 1. Basic algorithms of image processing. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 13: 248-253.
- EBERZ, G., RAST, H.-G., BURGER, K., KREISS, W. and WEISEMANN, C. (1996): Bioactivity screening by chromatography-bioluminescence coupling. *Chromatographia* 43: 5-9.
- ELOFF, J.N. (1998): Which extractant should be used for the screening and isolation of antimicrobial components from plants? *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 60: 1-8.
- ERDELMEIER, C.A.J. and KÖNIG, G.M. (1991): New planar chromatographic techniques in natural product analysis. *Phytochem. Anal.* 2: 3-14.
- ESSIG, S. and KOVAR, K.-A. (1997): The efficiency of thin-layer chromatographic systems: a comparison of separation numbers using addictive substances as an example. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 114-117.

- ESSIG, S. and KOVAR, K.-A. (1999): Impurity test of theophylline: comparison of classical slit scanner with videodensitometry. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 63-65.
- FANG, Q., YEUNG, H.W., LEUNG, H.W. and HUIE, C.W. (2000): Micelle-mediated extraction and preconcentration of ginsenosides from Chinese herbal medicine. *J. Chromatogr. A* 904: 47-55.
- FITZPATRICK, L.J. and DEAN, J.R. (2002): Extraction solvent selection in environmental analysis. *Anal. Chem.* 74: 74-79.
- FUCHS, C.T. and SPITELLER, G. (1997): Reduced indole-3-acetic acid decomposition causes enhanced growth of plums affected by the fungus *Taphrina pruni*. *Z. Naturforsch.* 52c: 504-507.
- GALAND, N., POTHIER, J. and VIEL, C. (2002): Plant drug analysis by planar chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 40: 585-597.
- GAMIZ-GRACIA, L. and LUQUE DE CASTRO, M.D. (2000): Continuous subcritical water extraction of medicinal plant essential oil: comparison with conventional techniques. *Talanta* 51: 1179-1185.
- GARCIA-AYUSO, L.E. and LUQUE DE CASTRO, M.D. (1999): A multivariate study of the performance of a microwave-assisted Soxhlet extractor for olive seeds. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 382: 309-316.
- GARCIA-AYUSO, L.E. and LUQUE DE CASTRO, M.D. (2001): Employing focused microwaves to counteract conventional Soxhlet extraction drawbacks. *Trends Anal. Chem.* 20: 28-34.
- GEISS, F. (1987): Fundamentals of thin layer chromatography (planar chromatography). Dr. Alfred Hüthig Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany.
- GOCAN, S. (2002): Stationary phases for thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 40: 538-549.
- GOCAN, S. and CIMPAN, G. (2004): Review of the analysis of medicinal plants by TLC: modern approaches. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 27: 1377-1411.
- GOCAN, S., CIMPAN, G. and MURESAN, L. (1996): Automated multiple development thin-layer chromatography of some plant extracts. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 14: 1221-1227.
- GUPTA, S.K., SARGENT, J.R. and WEBER, W.P. (2001): Fractionation of moderate molecular weight polysiloxanes by centrifugal TLC. *Anal. Chem.* 73: 3781-3783.
- HAAHTELA, K., RÖNKKÖ, R., LAAKSO, T., WILLIAMS, P.H. and KORHONEN, T.K. (1990): Root-associated *Enterobacter* and *Klebsiella* in *Poa pratensis*: characterization of an iron-scavenging system and a substance stimulating root hair production. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact*. 3: 358-365.
- HARRISON, S. (1977): Preparative centrifugal chromatography device. US Pat. US 4,139,458.
- HOPF, P.P. (1947): Radial chromatography in industry. *Ind. Eng. Chem.*39: 938-940. Ref. in HOSTETTMANN et al. 1998 and NYIREDY 2003.
- HOPKALA, H., POMYKALSKI, A., MROZEK, T. and OSTEP, M. (2003): Densitometric and videodensitometric TLC determination of timolol and betaxolol in ophthalmic solutions. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 16: 280-285.

- HOSTETTMANN, K., HOSTETTMANN-KALDAS, M. and STICHER, O. (1980): Rapid preparative separation of natural products by centrifugal thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* 202: 154-156.
- HOSTETTMANN, K., MARSTON, A. and HOSTETTMANN, M. (1998): Preparative chromatography techniques: applications in natural product isolation. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany.
- HOSTETTMANN, K., TERREAUX, C., MARSTON, A. and POTTERAT, O. (1997): The role of planar chromatography in the rapid screening and isolation of bioactive compounds from medicinal plants. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 251-257.
- HOWARD, A.G., SHAFIK, T., MOFFATT, F. and WILSON, I.D. (1999): Electroosmotically driven thin-layer electrochromatography on silica media. *J. Chromatogr. A* 844: 333-340.
- HROMADKOVA, Z., EBRINGEROVA, A. and VALACHOVIC, P. (1999): Comparison of classical and ultrasound-assisted extraction of polysaccharides from *Salvia officinalis* L. *Ultrason*. *Sonochem*. 5: 163-168.
- HUDAIB, M., GOTTI, R., POMPONIO, R. and CAVRINI, V. (2003): Recovery evaluation of lipophilic markers from *Echinacea purpurea* roots applying microwave-assisted solvent extraction versus conventional methods. *J. Sep. Sci.* 26: 97-104.
- HUIE, C.W. (2002): A review of modern sample preparation techniques for the extraction and analysis of medicinal plants. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem* 373: 23-30.
- HWU, J.R., ROBL, J.A. and KHOUDARY, K.P. (1987): Instrumentation and separation results of medium pressure liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 25: 501-505.
- HÄRMÄLÄ, P., VUORELA, H., NYIREDY, Sz., TÖRNQUIST, K., KALTIA, S., STICHER, O. and HILTUNEN, R., (1992a): Strategy for the isolation and identification of coumarins with calcium antagonistic properties from the roots of *Angelica archangelica*. *Phytochem. Anal.* 3: 42-48.
- HÄRMÄLÄ, P., VUORELA, H., RAHKO, E.-L. and HILTUNEN, R. (1992b): Retention behaviour of closely related coumarins in thin-layer chromatographic preassays for high-performance liquid chromatography according to the "PRISMA" model. *J. Chromatogr. A* 593: 329-337.
- HÄRMÄLÄ, P., VUORELA, H., TÖRNQUIST, K. and HILTUNEN, R. (1992c): Choice of solvent in the extraction of *Angelica archangelica* roots with reference to calcium blocking activity. *Planta Med.* 58: 176-183.
- JARVIS, A.P. and MORGAN, E.D. (1997): Isolation of plant products by supercritical-fluid extraction. *Phytochem. Anal.* 8: 217-222.
- JIMENEZ-CARMONA, M.M., UBERA, J.L. and LUQUE DE CASTRO, M.D. (1999): Comparison of continuous subcritical water extraction and hydrodistillation of marjoram essential oil. *J. Chromatogr. A* 855: 625-632.
- JORK, H., FUNK, W., FISCHER, W. and WIMMER, H. (1990): Thin-layer chromatography: reagents and detection methods, Vol 1a. VCH, Weinheim, Germany.
- JORK, H., FUNK, W., FISCHER, W. and WIMMER, H. (1994): Thin-layer chromatography: reagents and detection methods, Vol 1b. VCH, Weinheim, Germany.

- KALLITHRAKA, S., GARCIA-VIGUERA, C., BRIDLE, P. and BAKKER, J. (1995): Survey of solvents for the extraction of grape seed phenolics. *Phytochem. Anal.* 6: 265-267.
- KUBATOVA, A., MILLER, D.J. and HAWTHORNE, S.B. (2001): Comparison of subcritical water and organic solvents for extracting kava lactones from kava root. *J. Chromatogr. A* 923: 187-194.
- KULIK, A. and FIEDLER, H.-P. (1998): Some aspects of the purification of anthraquinone antibiotics by preparative reversed-phase liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 812: 117-121.
- LANG, Q. and WAI, C.M. (2001): Supercritical fluid extraction in herbal and natural product studies a practical review. *Talanta* 53: 771-782.
- LEUTERT, Th. and von ARX, E. (1984): Präparative Mitteldruck-Flüssigkeitschromatographie. *J. Chromatogr.* 292: 333-344.
- LIN, M.-C., TSAI, M.-J. and WEN, K.-C. (1999): Supercritical fluid extraction of flavonoids from *Scutellariae Radix. J. Chromatogr. A* 830: 387-395.
- LODI, G, BETTI, A., MENZIANI, E., BRANDOLINI, V. and TOSI, B. (1991): Some aspects and examples of automated multiple development (AMD) gradient optimization. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 4: 106-110.
- LUQUE-GARCIA, J.L. and LUQUE DE CASTRO, M.D. (2003): Ultrasound: a powerful tool for leaching. *Trends Anal. Chem.* 22: 41-47.
- MAÎTRE, J.-M., BOSS, G., TESTA, B. and HOSTETTMANN, K. (1986): Preparative separation of diastereomeric 2-arylpropionic acid derivatives by centrifugal thin-layer chromatography. Comparison with preparative liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* 356: 341-345.
- MALES, Z. and MEDIC-SARIC, M. (2001): Optimization of TLC analysis of flavonoids and phenolic acids of *Helleborus atrorubens* Waldst. et Kit. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 24: 353-359.
- MALINOWSKA, I. (2000a): The influence of electric fields on surface interactions in adsorption TLC. Part I. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 13: 4-8.
- MALINOWSKA, I. (2000b): Planar electrochromatography on nonwetted layers with binary mobile phases. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 13: 307-313.
- MAZUREK, M. and WITKIEWICZ, Z. (1998): Rotation planar chromatography. *Chem. Anal.* (Warsaw) 43: 529-546.
- MELECCHI, M.I.S., MARTINEZ, M.M., ABAD, F.C., ZINI, P.P., do NASCIMENTO, I. and CARAMÃO, E.B. (2002): Chemical composition of *Hibiscus tiliaceus* L. flowers: A study of extraction methods. *J. Sep. Sci.* 25: 86-90.
- MESZAROS, S., VERZAR-PETRI, G., NYIREDY-MIKITA, K., TYIHAK, E., NYIREDY, Sz., MEIER, B., STICHER, O. and DALLENBACH-TOELKE, K. (1987): Planar centrifugal chromatography device. US Pat. US 4,678,570.
- MOROVJAN, Gy., DALMADI-KISS, B., KLEBOVICH, I. and MINCSOVICS, E. (2002): Metabolite analysis, isolation and purity assessment using various liquid chromatographic techniques combined with radioactivity detection. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 40: 603-608.
- MOUSA, O. (1995): Ethnopharmacological and phytochemical studies on certain Egyptian *Ficus* species, Ph.D. thesis, 93 p., University of Helsinki, Cosmoprint Oy, Helsinki, Finland.

- NAGUMO, S., TOYONAGA, T., INOUE, T. and NAGAI, M. (1989): New glucosides of a 4-hydroxy-5-methylcoumarin and a dihydro-α-pyrone from *Gerbera jamesonii hybrida*. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 37: 2621-2623.
- NUMATA, A., TAKAHASHI, C., FUJIKI, R., KITANO, E., KITAJIMA, A. and TAKEMURA, T. (1990): Plant constituents biologically active to insects. VI. Antifeedants for larvae of the yellow butterfly *Eurema hecabe mandarina* in *Osmunda japonica*. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 38: 2862-2865.
- NUROK, D. (2000): Analytical chemistry: forced-flow techniques in planar chromatography. *Anal. Chem.* 72: 634A-641A.
- NUROK, D., FROST, M.C., PRITCHARD, C.L. and CHENOWETH, D.M. (1998): The performance of planar chromatography using electroosmotic flow. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 11: 244-246.
- NUROK, D., FROST, M.C. and CHENOWETH, D.M. (2000): Separation using planar chromatography with electroosmotic flow. *J. Chromatogr. A* 903: 211-217.
- NUROK, D., KOERS, J.M. and CARMICHAEL, M.A. (2003): Role of buffer concentration and applied voltage in obtaining a good separation in planar electrochromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 983: 247-253.
- NUROK, D., KOERS, J.M., NOVOTNY, A.L., CARMICHAEL, M.A., KOSIBA, J.J., SANTINI, R.E., HAWKINS, G.L. and REPLOGLE, R.W. (2004): Apparatus and initial results for pressurized planar electrochromatography. *Anal. Chem.* 76: 1690-1695.
- NYGAARD JOHANSEN, H., GLITSØ, V. and BACH KNUDSEN, K.E. (1996): Influence of extraction solvent and temperature on the quantitative determination of oligosaccharides from plant materials by high-performance liquid chromatography. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 44: 1470-1474.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2000a): Preparative thin-layer (planar) chromatography. Pp. 888-899. In Cooke, M. and Poole, C.F. (eds.): Encyclopedia of separation science. Academic Press, San Diego-San Francisco-New York-Boston-London-Sydney-Tokio.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2000b): Solid-liquid extraction strategy on the basis of solvent characterization. *Chromatographia* 51: 288-296.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2001a): Rotation planar extraction (RPE) a new exhaustive, preparative forced-flow technique. Part 1: Description of the method and practical aspects. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 14: 393-395.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2001b): The bridge between TLC and HPLC: overpressured layer chromatography (OPLC). *Trends Anal. Chem.* 20: 91-101.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2001c): The role of planar chromatography in medicinal plant research. *J. AOAC Int.* 84: 1219-1231.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2002): Planar chromatographic method development using the PRISMA optimization system and flow charts. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 40: 553-563.
- NYIREDY, Sz. (2003): Progress in forced-flow planar chromatography. J. Chromatogr. A 1000: 985-999
- NYIREDY, Sz., BOTZ, L. and STICHER, O. (1989): ROTACHROM®: a new instrument for rotation planar chromatography (RPC). *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 2: 53-61.

- NYIREDY, Sz., BOTZ, L. and STICHER, O. (1990a): Verfahren und Apparat zum Extrahieren von feinteiligen Feststoffen. Swiss Pat. CH 674,314.
- NYIREDY, Sz., DALLENBACH-TÖLKE, K. and STICHER, O. (1988): The "PRISMA" optimization system in planar chromatography. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 1: 336-342.
- NYIREDY, Sz., DALLENBACH-TOELKE, K., ZOGG, G.C. and STICHER, O. (1990b): Strategies of mobile phase transfer from thin-layer to medium-pressure liquid chromatography with silica as the stationary phase. *J. Chromatogr.* 499: 453-462.
- NYIREDY, Sz., ERDELMEIER, C.A.J., MEIER, B. and STICHER, O. (1985): "PRISMA": Ein Modell zur Optimierung der mobilen Phase für die Dünnschichtchromatographie, vorgestellt anhand verschiedener Naturstofftrennungen. *Planta Med.* 51: 241-246.
- NYIREDY, Sz., FATER, Zs., BOTZ, L. and STICHER, O. (1992): The role of chamber saturation in the optimization and transfer of the mobile phase. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 5: 308-315.
- NYIREDY, Sz., MESZAROS, S.Y., NYIREDY-MIKITA, K., DALLENBACH-TOELKE, K. and STICHER, O. (1986): Centrifugal planar-column chromatography (CPCC): A new preparative planar technique. Part 1: Description of the method and practical aspects. *J. High Resolut. Chromatogr.* 9: 605-606.
- OLLANKETO, M., HARTONEN, K., RIEKKOLA, M.-L., HOLM, Y. and HILTUNEN, R. (2001): Supercritical carbon dioxide extraction of lycopene in tomato skins. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 212: 561-565.
- ONG, E.-S., WOO, S.-O. and YONG, Y.-L. (2000): Pressurized liquid extraction of berberine and aristolochic acids in medicinal plants. *J. Chromatogr. A* 313: 57-64.
- OTTERBACH, A. and WENCLAWIAK, B.W. (1999): Ultrasonic/Soxhlet/supercritical fluid extraction kinetics of pyrethrins from flowers and allethrin from paper strips. *Fresenius J. Anal. Chem.* 365: 472-474.
- PALAMAREVA, M.D., STOYANOVA, M.P. and KOZEKOV, I.D. (2003): Automatic selection of mobile phases. III. TLC on silica of 2,3,4-trisubstituted tetrahydroisoquinolines. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 26: 1255-1266.
- PAN, X., LIU, H., JIA, G. and SHU, Y.Y. (2000): Microwave-assisted extraction of glycyrrhizic acid from licorice root. *Biochem. Eng. J.* 5: 173-177.
- PELANDER, A., SUMMANEN, J., YRJÖNEN, T., HAARIO, H., OJANPERÄ, I. and VUORELA, H. (1999): Optimization of separation in TLC by use of desirability functions and mixture designs according to the "PRISMA" method. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 365-372.
- PETROVIC, M., KAŠTELAN-MACAN, M., LAZARIC, K. and BABIC, S. (1999): Validation of thin-layer chromatography quantitation determination with CCD camera and slit-scanning densitometer. *J. AOAC Int.* 82: 25-30.
- PETROVIC, M., KAŠTELAN-MACAN, M., IVANKOVIC, D. and MATEČIC, S. (2000): Video-densitometric quantitation of fluorescence quenching on totally irradiated thin-layer chromatographic plates. *J. AOAC Int.* 83: 1457-1462.
- PINTO, E., CATALANI, L.H., LOPES, N.P., DI MASCIO, P. and COLEPICOLO, P. (2000): Peridinin as the major biological carotenoid quencher of singlet oxygen in marine algae *Gonyaulax polyedra*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 268: 496-500.

- PISACANE, A. (2001): Extraction of materials from plants. World Pat. WO 01/07135.
- POOLE, C.F. (1999): Planar chromatography at the turn of the century. *J. Chromatogr. A* 856: 399-427.
- POOLE, C.F. (2003): Thin-layer chromatography: challenges and opportunities. *J. Chromatogr. A* 1000: 963-984.
- POOLE, C.F. and BELAY, M.T. (1991): Progress in automated multiple development. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 4: 345-359.
- POOLE, C.F. and DIAS, N.C. (2000): Practitioner's guide to method development in thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 892: 123-142.
- POOLE, C.F. and WILSON, I.D. (1997): Planar electrophoresis and electrochromatography: time to revisit these techniques? *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 332-335.
- POTHIER, J., GALAND, N., el OUALI, M. and VIEL, C. (2001): Comparison of planar chromatographic methods (TLC, OPLC, AMD) applied to essential oils of wild thyme and seven chemotypes of thyme. *Il Farmaco* 56: 505-511.
- PRETORIUS, V., HOPKINS, B.J. and SCHIEKE, J.D. (1974): A new concept of high speed liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* 99: 23-30.
- PUKL, M., PROŠEK, M. and KAISER, R.E. (1994): Planar electrochromatography. Part 1. Planar electrochromatography on non-wetted thin-layers. *Chromatographia* 38: 83-87.
- RASKIN, I., RIBNICKY, D.M., KOMARNYTSKY, S., ILIC, N., POULEV, A., BORISJUK, N., BRINKER, A., MORENO, D.A., RIPOLL, C., YAKOBY, N., O'NEAL, J.M., CORNWELL, T., PASTOR, A. and FRIDLENDER, B. (2002): Plants and human health in the twenty-first century. *Trends Biotechnol.* 20: 522-531.
- RAUHA, J.-P., WOLFENDER, J.-L., SALMINEN, J.-P., PIHLAJA, K., HOSTETTMANN, K. and VUORELA, H. (2001): Characterization of the polyphenolic composition of purple loosestrife (*Lythrum salicaria*). *Z. Naturforsch*.56c: 13-20.
- REICH, E. and GEORGE, T. (1997): Method development in HPTLC. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 273-280.
- REVILLA, E., RYAN, J.-M. and MARTIN-ORTEGA, G. (1998): Comparison of several procedures used for the extraction of anthocyanins from red grapes. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 46: 4592-4597.
- RODRIGO, G.A., ROBINSOHN, A.E. and FERNANDEZ, B.M. (1999): Advantages of rotation planar chromatography in the separation of a benzothiazinone from other reaction products. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 225-227.
- ROVIO, S., HARTONEN, K., HOLM, Y., HILTUNEN, R. and RIEKKOLA, M.-L. (1999): Extraction of clove using pressurized hot water. *Flavour Fragr. J.* 14: 399-404.
- RÓŻYLO, J.K. and SIEMBIDA, R. (1997): Comparison of different methods of optimization of the TLC process. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 97-107.
- SALISOVA, M., TOMA, S. and MASON, T.J. (1997): Comparison of conventional and ultrasonically assisted extractions of pharmaceutically active compounds from *Salvia officinalis*. *Ultrason*. *Sonochem*. 4: 131-134.

- SANTAMARIA, R.I., REYES-DUARTE, M.D., BARZANA, E., FERNANDO, D., GAMA, F.M., MOTA, M. and LOPEZ-MUNGUIA, A. (2000): Selective enzyme-mediated extraction of capsaicinoids and carotenoids from chilli guajillo puya (*Capsicum annuum* L.) using ethanol as solvent. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 48: 3063-3067.
- SCALIA, S., GIUFFREDA, L. and PALLADO, P. (1999): Analytical and preparative supercritical fluid extraction of chamomile flowers and its comparison with conventional methods. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 21: 549-558.
- SHAFIK, T., HOWARD, A.G., MOFFATT, F. and WILSON, I.D. (1999): Evaporation-induced solvent migration in electrically-driven thin layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 841: 127-132.
- SHAH, K. and REICH, E. (1999): High performance thin layer chromatography in the analysis of herbals. *LC-GC Int.* 12: 294-304.
- SHI, Z., HE, J. and CHANG, W. (2004): Micelle-mediated extraction of tanshinones from *Salvia miltiorrhiza bunge* with analysis by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Talanta* 64: 401-407.
- SIEGENTHALER, P. and NEUENSCHWANDER, M. (1997): Sesquiterpenes from *Petasites hybridus* (Furanopetasin chemovar): separation, isolation and quantitation of compounds from fresh plant extracts. *Pharm. Acta Helv.* 72: 57-67.
- SILVA, G.L., LEE, I.-S. and KINGHORN, A.D. (1998): Special problems with the extraction of plants. Pp. 343-363. In Cannell, R.J.P. (ed.): Methods in biotechnology 4. Natural products isolation. Humana Press, Totowa, New Jersey, USA.
- SIOUFFI, A.-M. (1991): Some aspects of optimization in planar chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* 556: 81-94.
- SMITH, R.M. (2002): Extractions with superheated water. J. Chromatogr. A 975: 31-46.
- SNYDER, L.R. (1978): Classification of the solvent properties of common liquids. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 16: 223-234.
- SOMSEN, G.W., MORDEN, W. and WILSON, I.D. (1995): Planar chromatography coupled with spectroscopic techniques. *J. Chromatogr. A* 703: 613-665.
- SOULÉ, S., VÁZQUEZ, A., GONZÁLEZ, G., MOYNA, P. and FERREIRA, F. (1997): Preparative isolation of *Solanum tuberosum* L. glycoalkaloids by MPLC. *Potato Res.* 40: 413-416.
- STAHL, E: (1967): Thin-layer chromatography. A laboratory handbook. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York.
- STAHL, E. and MÜLLER, J. (1982): Parameters of preparative centrifugal thin-layer chromatography. *Chromatographia* 15: 493-497.
- STAHLMANN, S.A. (1999): Ten-year report on HPTLC-FTIR online coupling. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 5-12.
- STARMANS, D.A.J. and NIJHUIS, H.H. (1996): Extraction of secondary metabolites from plant material: a review. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* 7: 191-197.

- STUMPF, H., SPIESS, E. and HABS, M. (1992): Pflanzliche Arzneimittel: Restmengen an Lösungsmitteln. *Dtsch. Apoth. Ztg.* 132: 508-513.
- SUMMANEN, J., HILTUNEN, R. and VUORELA, H. (1998): The choice of parameters in the optimization of automated multiple development. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 11: 16-24.
- SUOMI, J., SIREN, H., HARTONEN, K. and RIEKKOLA, M.-L. (2000): Extraction of iridoid glycosides and their determination by micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 868: 73-83.
- SZABADY, B., FATER, Z. and NYIREDY, Sz. (1999): Comparative study of automated development chambers. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 12: 82-85.
- TOUCHSTONE, J.C. (1992): Practice of thin layer chromatography. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York-Chichester-Brisbane-Toronto-Singapore.
- TSERVISTAS, M., SCHEPER, T. and FREITAG, R. (2000): Supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) novel strategies in the processing of biomaterials. Pp. 106-113. In Grabley, S. and Thiericke R. (eds.): Drug discovery from nature. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York.
- TYIHAK, E., MINCSOVICS, E. and KALASZ, H. (1979): New planar liquid chromatographic technique: overpressured thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* 174: 75-81.
- VALACHOVIC, P., PECHOVA, A. and MASON, T.J. (2001): Towards the industrial production of medicinal tincture by ultrasound assisted extraction. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 8: 111-117.
- VALKO, K., CSERHATI, T. and FORGACS, E. (1991): Comparative investigation of the retention behaviour of nucleoside derivatives on alumina stationary phases in thin-layer chromatography and high-performance liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 550: 667-675.
- VALKO, K., OLAJOS, S. and CSERHATI, T. (1990): Prediction of the high-performance liquid chromatographic retention behaviour of some benzodiazepine derivatives by thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 499: 361-371.
- VAN BERKEL, G.J., LLAVE, J.J., DE APADOCA, M.F. and FORD, M.J. (2004): Rotation planar chromatography coupled on-line with atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 76: 479-482.
- VENKAT, E. and KOTHANDARAMAN, S. (1998): Supercritical fluid methods. Pp. 91-109. In Cannell, R.J.P. (ed.): Methods in biotechnology 4. Natural products isolation. Humana Press, Totowa, New Jersey, USA.
- VERPOORTE, R. (1999): Chemodiversity and the biological role of secondary metabolites, some thoughts for selecting plant material for drug development. Pp. 11-23. In Bohlin, L. and Bruhn, J.G. (eds.): Bioassay methods in natural product research and drug development. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- VINATORU, M. (2001): An overview of the ultrasonically assisted extraction of bioactive principles from herbs. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 8: 303-313.
- VINATORU, M., TOMA, M., RADU, O., FILIP, P.I., LAZURCA, D. and MASON, T.J. (1997): The use of ultrasound for the extraction of bioactive principles from plant materials. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 4: 135-139.

- VLIETINCK, A.J. (1999): Screening methods for detection and evaluation of biological activities of plant preparations. Pp. 37-52. In Bohlin, L. and Bruhn, J.G. (eds.): Bioassay methods in natural product research and drug development. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- VOVK, I., GOLC-WONDRA, A. and PROŠEK, M. (1997): Validation of an HPTLC method for determination of caffeine. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 416-419.
- VOVK, I. and PROŠEK, M. (1997): Reproducibility of densitometric and image analysing quantitative evaluation of thin-layer chromatograms. *J. Chromatogr. A* 779: 329-336.
- VOVK, I., SIMONOVSKA, B., ANDRENSEK, S., VUORELA, H. AND VUORELA, P. (2003): Rotation planar extraction and rotation planar chromatography of oak (*Quercus robur* L.) bark. *J. Chromatogr. A* 991: 267-274.
- VUORELA, H., DALLENBACH-TOLKE, K., STICHER, O. and HILTUNEN, R. (1988a): Separation of the main coumarins of *Peucedanum palustre* with various planar chromatographic methods. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 1: 123-127.
- VUORELA, H., ERDELMEIER, C.A.J., NYIREDY, Sz., DALLENBACH-TOELKE, K., ANKLIN, C., HILTUNEN, R. and STICHER, O. (1988b): Isobyakangelicin angelate: a novel furanocoumarin from *Peucedanum palustre*. *Planta Med.* 54: 538-542.
- VUORELA, P., RAHKO, E.-L., HILTUNEN, R. and VUORELA, H. (1994): Overpressured layer chromatography in comparison with thin-layer and high-performance liquid chromatography for the determination of coumarins with reference to the composition of the mobile phase. *J. Chromatogr. A* 670: 191-198.
- WAKSMUNDZKA-HAJNOS, M. and WAWRZYNOWICZ, T. (2002): Strategy of preparative separation of organic compounds by thin-layer chromatographic methods. *J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol.* 25: 2351-2386.
- WEINS, C. and JORK, H. (1996): Toxicological evaluation of harmful substances by in situ enzymatic and biological detection in high-performance thin-layer chromatography. *J. Chromatogr. A* 750: 403-407.
- WILSON, I.D. (1999): The state of the art in thin-layer chromatography-mass spectrometry: a critical appraisal. *J. Chromatogr. A* 856: 429-442.
- WILSON, I.D., SPRAUL, M. and HUMPFER, E. (1997): Thin-layer chromatography combined with high-resolution solid-state NMR for compound identification without substance elution: preliminary results. *J. Planar Chromatogr.* 10: 217-219.
- ZHENG, Y.-L., WIESENBORN, D.P., TOSTENSON, K. and KANGAS, N. (2004): Energy analysis in the screw pressing of whole and dehulled flaxseed. *J. Food Eng.* (in press).
- ZOGG, G.C., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1989a): Operating conditions in preparative medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC). I. Influence of column preparation and particle size of silica. *J. Liq. Chromatogr.* 12: 2031-2048.
- ZOGG, G.C., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1989b): Operating conditions in preparative medium pressure liquid chromatography (MPLC). II. Influence of solvent strength and flow rate of the mobile phase, capacity and dimensions of the column. *J. Liq. Chromatogr.* 12: 2049-2065.

- ZOGG, G.C., NYIREDY, Sz. and STICHER, O. (1989c): Preparative medium pressure liquid chromatographic (MPLC) and semipreparative HPLC separation of furocoumarin isomers. *Chromatographia* 27: 591-595.
- ZYGMUNT, B. and NAMIESNIK, J. (2003): Preparation of samples of plant material for chromatographic analysis. *J. Chromatogr. Sci.* 41: 109-116.